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Five-year Financial Summary

EFEHBERE

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

published audited financial statements and restated/ Z&EJIWT :

reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

HETENEELYBRABRAREEE
5,/ EF DB RFERERRR ([RRF])
REMB AR (G AEE ) RNBEDER
BEEMNEE  BE  AERIFERESOR

RESULTS 4
Year ended 31 December
BE+T-A=t-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-c=k —E-CE —To-% —ToTF —ENE
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
THET TR TET TR TEL
(Restated)
(E=751)
REVENUE g 264,037 245,612 279,371 290,590 275,354
Gross profit 7 81,429 72,729 82,351 83,256 93,142
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX Rl (B518) /s (4,366) (5,267) 19,911 32,538 36,344
Income tax credit/(expense) FEkEe/ (%) 710 1,622 (3,171) (5,352) (6,031)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR £ (18) /%7l (3,596) (3,645) 16,740 27,186 30,313
Attributable to owners SNGTE 2PN/ T
of the parent (3,263) (3.229) 16,982 27,186 30,313
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON- EE  BENRFERES
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
As at 31 December
R+t=A=+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—g-=% “E--F —E-F “E-TE —T-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TER TET TAET TET
(Restated)
(LE751)
Total assets BEE 408,814 419,818 432,486 405,506 360,117
Total liabilities £afk (66,569) (67,337) (67,311) (54,223) (38,785)
Non-controlling interests R 87 (246) (658) - -
342,332 352,235 364,517 351,283 321,332
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Corporate Information (Continued)

NEEF(F)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETREEE (E)

Dear valuable shareholders,

Time files. Peiport Holdings Ltd. has been listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) for over five years. Under the influence of the
2019 Coronavirus Disease ("COVID-19") and the
international and domestic political and economic
environment, the Group still managed to achieve an
approximately 7.5% growth in its total revenue as compared
with year 2022. On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the "Director(s)”) of the Company, | hereby report
to the shareholders on the results of the Group in 2023,
formulate work plans for 2024 and summarise the outlook of
the three major business segments of the Group.

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR 2023

In 2023, the overall revenue of the Group increased,
especially in terms of the general aviation products and
services business segment with satisfactory growth
momentum. The significant increase in sales in this business
segment was attributed to the promotion of low altitude
economy in the Chinese Mainland and the increase in the
demand of the domestic general aviation sector for airplanes
and aircrafts for industrial, agricultural, logistics and flight
school applications. Meanwhile, in recent years, our general
aviation products and services successively entered the
markets of other Asian countries such as Thailand, Japan,
Korea, Indonesia, the Philippines and etc., with an increasing
revenue growth every year.

Despite the relatively tough operating environment, the
Group placed much emphasis on team training and team
building of our research and development staff. In 2023, the
Group devoted a considerable amount of financial and
human resources in expanding the research and
development team in Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong
while strengthening cooperation between two teams.
During the year, through close communication and technical
exchange, we developed an automatic testing system with
the use of artificial intelligence (“Al”) technology and rolled
out the product to the sales market successfully.

In addition, in 2023, the Group had distributed the final

dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 to reward
our shareholders for their support to the Group.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

TREEE (E)

BUSINESS PROSPECT FOR 2024

In 2024, the ever-changing international and domestic
economic and political conditions may affect the results of
the Group in the future. However, we will insist on pursuing
the following: Firstly, we will continue expanding our team
of research and development staff and marketing personnel,
Secondly, we will research and develop our own technology,
especially products with the utilisation of Al technology.
Meanwhile, we will fully promote our newly developed
products and successfully developed products to various
sales markets through our existing sales network and
maintenance centres in Greater China, East Asia, and
Southeast Asia; Thirdly, we will continue to step up our
efforts in investing in our three existing major business
segments, especially maintaining the continuous revenue
growth momentum of the general aviation products and
services business segment.

The Hong Kong government has been actively promoting
STEM education (including science, technology, engineering,
mathematics, coding and robotics)(“STEM™) which has
gained worldwide popularity in recent years. To grasp this
opportunity, the Group will continue developing STEM
education related business in its existing education centre
and will add localised content on top of the existing
curriculum to cater for the needs of the local students in
Hong Kong by providing various modes of education
including mechanical design, software programming,
mindset training as well as delivering a keynote speech in
English, thereby cultivating and enhancing students’
computational thinking and problem-solving skills. \We hope
to cultivate the next generation through our STEM business.
It is not only one that enhances parents’ understanding on
STEM education, but also one that serves as the foundation
for talent cultivation in the field of innovation and technology
in Hong Kong.

(1) Thermal imaging products and services

The Group will continue researching and developing
system integration products with solutions while trying
to incorporate Al concept and technology to enhance
its competitiveness.

—EUFERRE

—FTomE - BRMEANEE BB E
ERR - AT ERNEEARKHES - BEW
o HPIS B MFIATEETE : — - B8
BARPABERMAENLEHEASNEEK
Z o MERSARMEERMMER LERS
BATHEARRMNER - SRS
BRWER  BBERABEATE REM
RETHHEREEETL  2HERES
WEMS = MARENEERBEN=ZAZE
Bk £ - LEEBBMEE R MRS EHIR
8 MRS H WS PR B RASBIE

FEBBRBNHBERONMSRHERAER LB
BITWSTEMHE (BHERE2 - &Kiff - T2 -
2 HELEMA) (TSTEM) HRERTS - A
REFBBMOFEBERESTEMEE H#
B HEPLEREAMRIEZER L - IIAE
BRABAMBENAT - EHFREARMRE
BHRE  BRIMAREXEBEBEEH
B UBBENREARENEE DG LB HE
N B LEBAEEHNSTEM EBIEE R
KH—HK - BESRRBASTEMHKE 2 84 -
IREB BRI BB FIT i 2R o

(—) BB ERRRE
REBGHREMBREBRTRORR

ERHES  TESIEAATEEEAR
el A E T S o
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FREEE (E8)

(2)

(3)

In terms of marketing, the Group will continue to
leverage on its all-in-one services and has established
offices or branches in various sales markets such as
northern, eastern, central southern, southwestern and
northwestern areas in the Chinese Mainland to
enhance its marketing efforts. With the head quarter
set in Hong Kong, the Group will devote resources in
marketing efforts in the Hong Kong and Macau markets
while exploring the Southeast Asian market to expand
our market reach and enhance our product sales in
Southeast Asia.

Self-stabilised imaging products and services

Our self-stabilised imaging products have been widely
adopted in the testing of high voltage power
transmission circuits. With the increasing power
demand for West-to-East Electricity Transmission, it is
expected that more high voltage power transmission
circuits will be laid out and more helicopters will be
used for testing, resulting in an increase of market
demand for our products and services. In 2024, we will
maintain our product quality and reliability as well as
devoting more resources to advanced technologies to
satisfy users’ needs.

In addition, our self-stabilised products are also adopted
in the field of air transport management and monitoring.
We will try to expand this business segment and
enhance our market share to increase our revenue.

General aviation products and services

In 2023, the Chinese Mainland reiterated the vigorous
development of low altitude economy. Major markets
include logistics, industrial, agricultural, air taxi, air
travel, sightseeing, air monitoring, forest fire
monitoring, disaster assistance, flight schools
applications and etc. To satisfy the needs of the
abovementioned demanded markets, it is expected
that more general aviation aircrafts will be adopted in
the Chinese Mainland, and such policy will facilitate the
development of our general aviation products and
services segment.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

TREEE (E)

In addition, the Group has been providing Asian clients
with general aviation products and services, including
providing assistance to suppliers in establishing
maintenance centres in these countries, with the
intention of establishing training and sales centres.
Accordingly, it is expected that the revenue of the
general aviation products and services business
segment will increase in 2024.

APPRECIATION

The jade rabbit goes to the Guanghan palace, and the golden
dragon brings prosperity. It is time for out with the old, in
with the new. On behalf of the Board, | would like to
express my heartfelt gratitude to all the staff members of
Peiport for their hard work and great efforts in 2023. | would
like to express my gratitude to your contributions as well as
your support and care to the Group despite a challenging
business environment. | would also like to express the
Board's gratitude to your family for the support to the Group
in all aspects of our work.

The Board would also like to express its sincere gratitude to
our shareholders for their continuous support, love, care and
tolerance to the Group. At the same time, we would also
like to thank our customers as well as domestic and
international business partners for their generous support
and assistance. Thank you very much!

Our journey may be difficult, but we will eventually reach our
destination as long as we keep moving forward. In 2024, the
Group will continue to work hard, move forward and strive
for better operational results. Thank youl!

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN W&

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of thermal
imaging products and services, self-stabilised imaging
products and services, and general aviation products and
services in Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.

There has been economic uncertainty in Chinese Mainland
and Hong Kong and globally due to several factors, including
global supply chain constraints, rising interest rates and
geopolitical tensions. We expect the economic conditions
will continue to be highly volatile and uncertain, put pressure
on prices and supply, and could affect demand for our
products.

We worked relentlessly to maintain effective operations and
overcame numerous difficulties. Until now, our business,
supply chain, costs and most of our products’ demand have
not been materially adversely affected by these global
conditions. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group recorded an increase in revenue of approximately
HK$18.4 million to approximately HK$264.0 million and
incurred loss attributable to owners of the parent of
approximately HK$3.3 million.

PERFORMANCE OF BUSINESS SEGMENT

A summary of revenue from different business segments of
the Group is set out below:

(1) Thermal imaging products and services

Our products and services in this segment can broadly
be divided into three categories: (i) products under our
own brand name, PTi; (ii) products of other brands; and
(i) thermal imaging inspection services. Our products
are widely used in general consumption, commercial
and industrial fields.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue
from this business segment reduced by approximately
6.1%. It is mainly due to the decrease in sales of SF6
gas imaging cameras and detection parts and was
partially offset by the increase in rendering of
maintenance services and equipment rental.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENWRE D (&)

PERFORMANCE OF BUSINESS SEGMENT
(Continued)

(1)

(2)

Thermal imaging products and services
(Continued)

Revenue from this business segment during the year
ended 31 December 2023 was approximately HK$71.8
million (2022: HK$76.5 million). It accounted for
approximately 27.2% (2022: 31.2%) of the Group's
revenue during the year.

Self-stabilised imaging products and services

The products in this segment are designed to be
mounted on moving platforms such as aircraft,
helicopters, vessels and ships. The Group deploys a
self-stabilisation technology whereby the imaging
products are mounted on a multiple-axis gimbaled
structure and achieve maximum stabilisation. The
products are traded under own brand name, SkyEye,
SeaVision and PGs. We also rent our self-stabilised
imaging products for aircraft to our customers for a
fixed period at a rental fee as well as provide product
training and technical assistance to our customers
based on their requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue
from this business segment decreased by
approximately HK$6.9 million or 13.6% on a year-to-
year basis. It is mainly due to a decrease in rendering
of maintenance services and equipment rental and
sales of self-stabilised imaging product for aircraft and
was partially offset by increase in sales of self-
stabilised imaging product for vessels and self-
stabilised imaging parts. The revenue from this
business segment during the year ended 31 December
2023 was approximately HK$44.0 million (2022:
HK$50.9 million). It accounted for approximately 16.7 %
(2022: 20.7%) of the Group’s revenue during the year.

BRI KRR (F])

(1)

(2)
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PERFORMANCE OF BUSINESS SEGMENT
(Continued)

(3) General aviation products and services

The services and products in this business segment
can be broadly divided into three categories, namely (i)
light and ultra-light aircraft engines and related
components distribution; (ii) maintenance training
courses; and (iii) maintenance and support services.
Our maintenance training courses and maintenance
and support services are mainly carried out in our
maintenance centre with a gross floor area of
approximately 1,200 square metres which is located in
Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province. Our customers in
this business segment include light and ultra-light
aircraft manufacturers, flight schools, flying
entertainment clubs, light aircraft research institutions
and private flight owners.

In 2023, the total general aviation flight time in the
Chinese Mainland was 1.357 million hours, which
achieved an average annual growth rate of over 12% in
the past three years. The Group believes this business
segment has a lot of potential and could enhance the
long-term business performance of the Group. The
Group will continue to focus on the development of the
general aviation value chain in the Chinese Mainland.

Revenue from this business segment during the year
ended 31 December 2023 increased by approximately
HK$29.1 million or 24.8% on a year-to-year basis.
Revenue from this business segment was
approximately HK$146.6 million (2022: HK$117.5
million). It accounted for approximately 55.5% (2022:
47.8%) of the Group’s revenue during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEN W& (F)

PROSPECT

Looking ahead, we reiterate our commitment to maximise
shareholder value, focus on our core value and strengthen
our brand recognition.

In 2024, we will introduce and fully promote our newly
developed products to various sales markets through our
existing sales network and maintenance centres in Greater
China and Southeast Asia. Meanwhile, we will continue to
invest in research and development in order to strengthen
our product portfolio with new offerings so as to meet the
needs of market and customers.

The Group is optimistic in the prospect of STEM education.
We will continue developing STEM business to ensure the
existing curriculum is sustainable and relevant to the market.

The Group is well placed to meet the challenging
environment. We would remain alert to adapt to the
changing dynamics in the market trend and development,
such as geopolitical tensions and economic conditions that
may affect our product’s demand, and strive to create better
value for our shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENRRE D (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group was derived from business
consisting of: (i) thermal imaging products and services; (ii)
self-stabilised imaging products and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the total revenue of the Group increased
by approximately HK$18.4 million, or 7.5% from
approximately HK$245.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$264.0 million. The
increase was primarily attributable to the following reasons:

(i)

(ii)

Thermal imaging products and services

Revenue derived from thermal imaging products and
services decreased by approximately HK$4.7 million, or
6.1%, from approximately HK$76.5 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately HK$71.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in
sales of SF6 gas imaging cameras and detection parts
of approximately HK$11.4 million from our existing
customers due to decrease in demand of the relevant
products and was partially offset by increase in
rendering of maintenance services and equipment
rental of approximately HK$5.7 million.

Self-stabilised imaging products and services

Revenue derived from self-stabilised imaging products
and services decreased by approximately HK$6.9
million, or 13.6%, from approximately HK$50.9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$44.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.
The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease
in rendering of maintenance services and equipment
rental of approximately HK$14.7 million and decrease
in sales of self-stabilised imaging product for aircraft of
approximately HK$9.8 million and was partially offset
by increase in sales of self-stabilised imaging product
for vessels and self-stabilised imaging parts of
approximately HK$17.6 million from both of our new
and existing customers due to increase in demand of
the relevant products.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) General aviation products and services

Revenue derived from general aviation products and
services increased by approximately HK$29.1 million,
or 24.8%, from approximately HK$117.5 million for the
year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$146.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The increase was primarily attributable to an
increase in sales of light and ultra-light aircraft engine
and engine parts from both of our new and existing
customers due to increase in demand of the relevant
products.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit for the Group increased from approximately
HK$72.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$81.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, and the gross profit margin increased by
approximately 1.2% from approximately 29.6% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to approximately 30.8% for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

(i)

Gross profit margin of thermal imaging products
and services

The gross profit margin of thermal imaging products
and services increased by approximately 6.9% from
approximately 18.6% for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately 25.5% for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase in our gross profit
margin was primarily attributable to the increase in
rendering of maintenance services and equipment
rental, which had a relatively higher gross profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEN W& (F)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin (Continued)

(ii) Gross profit margin of self-stabilised imaging
products and services

The gross profit margin of self-stabilised imaging
products and services decreased by approximately
3.2% from approximately 46.4% for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately 43.2% for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in our gross
profit margin was primarily attributable to the decrease
in rendering of maintenance services and equipment
rental, which had a relatively higher gross profit margin.
(iii) Gross profit margin of general aviation products
and services

The gross profit margin of general aviation products
and services remained relatively stable at approximately
29.5% and 29.7% for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2023, respectively.

Other Income and Gains, Net

The Group’s other income and gains increased by
approximately HK$2.6 million, or 113.0%, from
approximately HK$2.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$4.9 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly
attributable to an increase in bank interest income arising
from increase in investment of time deposits during the
year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group's selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately HK$2.8 million, or 9.2%, from approximately
HK$30.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$33.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in staff costs of our sales and marketing personnel
resulting from the increase in sales commission along with
the increase in our overall revenue for the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by
approximately HK$3.6 million, or 10.3%, from approximately
HK$34.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$38.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in research and development expenses of
approximately HK$2.0 million as a result of increase in
employment of research and development staff during the
year and increase in staff costs related to the salaries and
benefits of our administrative personnel of approximately
HK$1.0 million.

Other Expenses

The Group's other expenses increased by approximately
HK$3.9 million, or 27.1%, from approximately HK$14.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$18.3 million for the year ended 31
December 2023. The increase in other expenses was
primarily attributable to the recognition of provision for
doubtful receivables of approximately HK$11.9 million and
was partially offset by decrease in the recognition of foreign
exchange loss of approximately HK$5.5 million in 2023.

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs remained relatively stable at
approximately HK$0.5 million and HK$0.6 million for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively.

Income Tax Credit

The Group’s income tax credit decreased by approximately
HK$0.8 million, or 50.0%, from approximately HK$1.6 million
(restated) for the year ended 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$0.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was primarily resulting from a
decrease in loss before tax during the year ended 31
December 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Loss for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Parent

As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, the
Group’s loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
parent remained relatively stable at approximately HK$3.2
million (restated) and HK$3.3 million for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group maintained a healthy liquidity
position, with working capital financed mainly by internal
resources. As at 31 December 2023, the Group reported net
current assets of approximately HK$320.6 million, as
compared with approximately HK$331.7 million as at 31
December 2022. As at 31 December 2023, the Group's cash
and cash equivalents remained relatively stable at
approximately HK$244.6 million and HK$243.3 million for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, respectively. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the net cash generated
from operating activities was approximately HK$14.7 million
(2022: HK$40.8 million). The cash generated from operating
activities was mainly from the decrease in trade and bills
receivables during the year ended 31 December 2023. The
net cash used in investing activities was approximately
HK$16.6 million (2022: HK$41.7 million). The net cash used
in financing activities was approximately HK$12.6 million
(2022: HK$12.6 million). The net cash used in investing
activities was mainly attributable to the investment of time
deposits and acquisition of property, plant and equipment
during the year. The net cash used in financing activities was
mainly arising from the payment of lease liabilities and the
payment of final dividend.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEN W& (F)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2022: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no significant
capital commitments (31 December 2022: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Functional currency of the Group’s operating subsidiaries is
either Hong Kong dollar or Renminbi, while some of the
Group’'s business transactions and cost of sales are
denominated in United States dollar and Euro.

The Group has transactional currency exposures and such
exposures arise from sales or purchases made by
subsidiaries in currencies other than the subsidiaries’
functional currencies. The Group’s foreign currency exposure
also comprises assets and liabilities denominated in United
States dollar. The Group manages its foreign currency risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rates.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not pledge any
assets (31 December 2022: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2023, since we did not have any bank
borrowings, gearing ratio was not applicable to our Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEN W& (F)

USE OF PROCEEDS

The final offer price for the listing of the Company’s shares
(the "Listing”) was HK$1.25 per share, and the actual net
proceeds from the Listing were approximately HK$81.2
million (after deduction of the listing expenses).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 18
October 2022 (the "Announcement”), the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic, which had led to travel restrictions
and/or quarantine requirements, has made it more difficult
for the Company’s management to locate suitable premise
and develop the research and development centre in the
Chinese Mainland in 2022. The Board considers it is
appropriate to reallocate the unutilised net proceeds initially
intended for the establishment of research and development
centre in the Chinese Mainland to other imminent needs of
the Group. For further details, please refer to the
Announcement.

As at the date of this annual report (the “Annual Report”),
the net proceeds from the Listing were utilised as follows:
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Original
allocation of Expected
net proceeds Amount Amount  timeline for
according to Revised utilised as at unutilised asat utilisation of
the prospectus allocation of the date of this the date of this  the remaining
of the Company  the proceeds Annual Report  Annual Report  proceeds
RERRTN
RREE
FERERE fERE  RAEERE  RAFERE  BRRTHE
FRARE LBIIRE AHCHRALE ANKERSE FENEARHEX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AL TiEr AL
Establish new research and RERREARL 39,600 19,600 (19,600) - NA
development centres in the FHERL NER
Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong
Enhance the recognition and REAMERNBAE 17,300 27,300 (25,060) 2240  Bythe end of
qualification of our products RER 2024
“Z_MERA
Strengthen our sales capacityand ~ ZEHEE HRILE 21,100 31,100 (29,375) 1,725 By the end of
capture new sales opportunities MEERE 2024
“E_MEERA
Purchase new information technology & B#f AR 2,500 2,500 (2,500) - NA
hardware and software R## TEA
Working capital 2ELE 700 700 (700) - NA
TER
81,200 81,200 (77,235) 3,965
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USE OF PROCEEDS (Continued)

All the unutilised balances have been placed in a licensed
bank in Hong Kong.

RESTRUCTURING AND SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the
Group did not have any restructuring and significant
investments.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had a total of 154 (31 December 2022: 149)
employees as at 31 December 2023. Total staff costs of the
Group (excluding the Directors’ and chief executive officer’s
remuneration) for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$49.5 million (2022: HK$47.3 million). The
Group’s remuneration policies were in line with relevant
legislation, market conditions and the performance of our
employees.

DIVIDENDS

Having considered the financial and cash flow position of the
Company, as well as to reward the shareholders of the
Company for their continued support during the challenging
economic environment and enhance investors’ confidence
in the Company, the Board recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HK1.35 cents per share for the year ended
31 December 2023 (the “Proposed Final Dividend”).

To celebrate the Group’s 5th anniversary of listing on the
Stock Exchange and express our gratitude to the
shareholders of the Company for their continued support,
the Board also recommended a special dividend of HK1.35
cents per share (the “Proposed Special Dividend”). Together
with the final dividend of HK1.35 cents per share, the total
dividends will amount to HK2.70 cents per share.

The Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed Special
Dividend shall be declared and distributed in Hong Kong
dollars and will be subject to the shareholders’ approval at
the forthcoming annual general meeting (the "AGM") to be
held on Wednesday, 12 June 2024. It is expected that the
Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend
will be paid on or before Monday, 8 July 2024 to
shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 26
June 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENRRE D (&)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(A) for determining the entitlement to attend and

(B)

vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Wednesday, 5 June 2024 to Wednesday, 12 June
2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfers of shares shall be effected. In order to qualify
for attending and voting at the AGM to be held on
Wednesday, 12 June 2024, all transfers of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms, must be lodged for registration with the
Hong Kong share registrar of the Company, Union
Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F., Two
Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’'s Road, North
Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on Tuesday, 4
June 2024.

for determining the entitlement to the
Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed
Special Dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 24 June 2024 to Wednesday, 26 June
2024, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to be eligible to receive the Proposed Final
Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend, all
transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for
registration with the Hong Kong share registrar of the
Company, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04,
33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's
Road, North Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m.
on Friday, 21 June 2024.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENEREEE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (# &%), aged 75, is the founder of
our Group. Mr. Yeung is the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director. Mr. Yeung was appointed as a Director
on 19 December 2017. He is in charge of the strategic
direction and development strategy of our Group. Mr. Yeung
is also a director of a number of our subsidiaries and the
member of the Company’s remuneration committee.

Mr. Yeung has over 25 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. He obtained
his bachelor’'s degree in aeronautical engineering from
Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics (F 5
ZEMAKE) (formerly known as Nanjing College of
Aeronautics (F RMZEEFR)) in June 1982. Mr. Yeung started
his career in the industry working as a designer of aircraft
machinery at the Aviation Department Aircraft Design
Institute* (AP EIfTZE T3 48A R/~ —— 9T AT, also known
as P9JIIEX#EP611FT) from February 1982 to May 1985 where
he was mainly responsible for design of aircraft machinery.
He joined Schmidt & Co., (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company
focusing on system integration, in May 1986 and was
promoted to the role of product manager in January 1993
responsible for business development. He then founded our
Group in April 1998 and has served as managing director of
our Group since then.

Mr. Yeung served as the general manager (B2 %) of
Infrared Analysis Society of China* (B4 D HTEE) in
1989. In 2004, he was appointed as the Economic
Development Consultant of Meijiang District, Meizhou* (&
N T R& BT SEEEER) by the Meizhou Meijian
Committee Meizhou Meijiang People’'s Government* (f1 4t
wHNTmHEIRZEgmMNmE IR ARKM). He was
awarded the title of the 20th Anniversary of Meijiang District
Outstanding Contributor* (/TR ZE205BF = ERE) by
the Meizhou Meijian Committee Meizhou Meijiang People’s
Government* (R HEMNHHHTIEZ B SHMNTIETIEARK
fF) in 2008. Besides, Mr. Yeung was appointed as the
Honorary Vice-chairman of Fifth Executive Committee of
Guangzhou Land, Marine and Aero Modelling Association*
(BMNmEEERIESHHEFAEREERLEREF) in
2011.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EENEREEE (E)

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yeung has obtained various qualifications, including (i)
the Service and Maintenance Course for Ultralight Aircraft
Engines ROTAX 582-618-912 Diploma from ROTAX in
March 1993; (ii) the Thermovision 500 Operator Training
Course awarded by Agema Infrared Systems in October
1997; (iii) The American Society for Nondestructive Testing
Level Il Certificate Program in October 1999; and (iv) the
Thermal Imaging Fundamentals Certificate awarded by FLIR
Infrared Training Centre in June 2007. Mr. Yeung further
completed the Advanced CEO Program* ({®342%(CEO)&
WAHMEL) at Tsinghua University in May 2010.

Mr. Yeung is the spouse of Ms. WONG Kwan Lik and the
father of Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai.

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (E£#f 1), aged 67, is the chief executive
officer and an executive Director. Ms. Wong was appointed
as a Director on 19 December 2017. She joined our Group in
April 1998 and has since then taken an active part in the
sales and operation of our Group. Ms. Wong is also a
director of a number of our subsidiaries and the member of
the Company's nomination committee.

Ms. Wong has over 25 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From February
1982 to May 1986, Ms. Wong worked on aviation machinery
research at the Aviation Department Aircraft Design
Institute* (R EIfiTZE T 4B A RS ——H5LFT, also known
as PUJIIAX#&BG11F7). Ms. Wong has been serving as the sales
manager of Peiport Scientific Limited (“Peiport Scientific”)
and Peiport Scientific Aero Limited (“Peiport Aero”) from
April 1998 to June 2018 and from July 2018 to March 2019,
respectively. Since 1 April 2019, she has been promoted to
the managing director of Peiport Aero and is responsible for
planning and coordination of sales and operations of our
Group.

Ms. Wong obtained a bachelor’'s degree in aeronautical
engineering from Nanjing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics (R RATZEMAARE) (formerly known as Nanjing
College of Aeronautics (F8 =M ZEEF7)) in June 1982.

Ms. Wong is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching and the
mother of Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

ESERGHREEE (F)

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai (#%#&28), aged 36, is an executive
Director. Mr. Yeung was appointed as a Director on 22
August 2018. Mr. Yeung joined our Group in February 2016
and has since then taken part in the management of
operation and supplier relationship of our Group.

Mr. Yeung has over 7 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From April
2013 till February 2014, Mr. Yeung worked as an associate
in the ICT hardware department under the Bell Professional
Management Program of Bell Canada, and was responsible
for building and maintaining the office’'s computers and
facilities. He was promoted to the position of technical
analyst in October 2013 and was responsible for managing
the daily work of the ICT hardware department. From
August 2014 to March 2015, Mr. Yeung joined Bell Business
Market of Bell Canada and worked as a technical analyst,
responsible for building, testing and deploying Cisco
telephone scripts for customers. Mr. Yeung has been
working as the marketing manager of Peiport Scientific and
Peiport Aero from February 2016 to June 2018 and from
July 2018 to March 2019, respectively. Since 1 April 2019,
he has been promoted to the business development director
of Peiport Aero and is mainly responsible for managing the
daily operations of our Group.

Mr. Yeung obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from
McMaster University in Canada in June 2010, majoring in
computer engineering. He further obtained a master’s
degree in engineering from McMaster University in June
2013, majoring in electrical and computer engineering.

Mr. Yeung is the son of Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching and Ms.
WONG Kwan Lik.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EENEREEE (E)

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie (4$&&), aged 56, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 December 2018.
He is responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to our Board. Mr. Niu is also the chairman of the
Company’s nomination committee and the member of the
audit committee and remuneration committee.

Mr. Niu has worked with various financial institutions and
has extensive experience in equity capital markets. He
served as a director of Vision Finance Asset Management
Limited from February 2008 to January 2015. He has been
the director of Vision Finance International Company Limited
since September 2007 to present, and has also been the
responsible officer of the company to carry on type 1
(dealing in securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate
finance) regulated activities since November 2007.
Furthermore, he has been the responsible officer for type 4
(advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management)
regulated activities of Vision Finance Asset Management
Limited since December 2008 and July 2010, respectively.

He has served as an independent non-executive director of
Nanjing Sample Technology Company Ltd. (stock code:
1708) since 27 May 2019. He also served as an independent
non-executive director of New Media Lab Limited (stock
code: 1284) and Starlight Culture Entertainment Group
Limited (stock code: 1159) since 26 June 2023 and 15
September 2023, respectively.

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen (#5#83<), aged 48, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 December
2018. She is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board. Ms. Yeung is also the
chairwoman of the Company’s audit committee and the
member of the nomination committee.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

E= (&)
BAFHTES

HEERE 5655 R=E— )/ \F+=-A+N\
AEZTABYIIENTES HAEERES
G REEREB T HE - FEERBARA A
CIRZFEENIFE  UREREE S NFH
ZEEHKE -

FRECNZHSBBETIF  EREEALRT
SHRELERLR BN _ZETN\F_AE_F
—hF-RRECEESREETERARARN
EX-A-_TTLFNAES  BRELDH
BEARARES TR _ETLHF+—AK
BEEZARRETE 1R (BHFRS) REH
(I ERERHER) XRETHTENAR
AB B BOBB-ZENF+ AR
F-TFLARETEESREETEARA
AEFIBE(RBLFREHER) REIE(BEH
BEEE)XRERHTHNEEAR -

B-Z-NAFRAA-_tLHE BERER=F%
Rt B R AR (B2 - 1708) #9382
ERTEF - BADHE T _=FA
“HARERZZEC=FAA+HBEREELHE
TEIER AR (MRS 1284) K2R XL
IREESEBR AR (B HER - 1159) H9IB L
FERITEE -

BRXLL 485 R-FT-/\Ft-A+N
AEZERBUIFNTEZ RABEBESR
@ MEERME T HE - B R LRSS RTF]
LECRZEENERIRBRREGMKE -



Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

ESERGHREEE (F)

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Yeung has over 20 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Yeung worked in
various companies being responsible in the finance and
accounting aspects, among which she served as (i) a staff
accountant in the audit department of Ernst & Young in
Hong Kong from September 1997 to March 1999; (ii) an
accounting officer of China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd
from September 1999 to 2002; (iii) an accountant of Bruker
Optics Inc. from January 2006 to February 2007; (iv) the
accounting manager and financial controller of PCC Asia LCC
since April 2007 to June 2019 and from July 2019 to March
2020, respectively; and (v) the wealth management manager
of AIA Company Limited since September 2020.

Ms. Yeung was awarded the Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree
in Accountancy by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
1997. Ms. Yeung was admitted in January 2007 as a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). She is currently a certified public
accountant registered with the HKICPA. She has been a
member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since May 2006.

Mr. HOU Min ({®3&), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 December 2018.
He responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to our Board. Mr. Hou is also the chairman of the
Company's remuneration committee and the member of the
audit committee.

Mr. Hou has over 20 years of experience in the aviation
industry. From 1980 to 1994, Mr. Hou served in the People’s
Republic of China (the “"PRC") military. Mr. Hou served as
an officer at the Anti-Smuggling Bureau of the Beijing
Customs Office between September 1994 and March 2002.
From 2002 to 2004, Mr. Hou was employed by Sino
Television Co. Ltd (8| ERBRAF]) as a pilot for aerial
photography. From May 2012 to December 2013, Mr. Hou
worked at Anhui Dinghong General Aviation Company
Limited* (ZBIBRBAMZEHBRAF) (previously known as
the Anhui Dinghong General Aviation Company Limited* (%
BB BEABMZEARAT)), with his last position being the
general manager responsible for daily operations.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERGHREEE (F)

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

From February 2015 to August 2017, Mr. Hou was the
general manager of Hunan Sunward General Aviation
Company Limited* (# LA ZE N :BM AR A F)) responsible
for the daily operations of the company. From December
2017 to the present, Mr. Hou has been the legal
representative and general manager of Guizhou Huang Ping
Qie Lan General Aviation Company Limited* (&M =¥ H#
BAMZEAERAF]) responsible for the overall operation and
management.

Mr. Hou completed the fighter pilot diploma at the PRC
People's Liberation Army Air Force Fourth Aviation School*
(FERARBHMEZEEZOMZEER) in December 1982. He
further obtained a bachelor’s degree in military science from
the Army Staff College* (FEEZ2RE ) in the PRC in July
1994,

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. SZE So Fan (£ 3tl), aged 54, is the deputy chief
executive officer of our Group. Ms. Sze joined our Group in
May 1999 and is responsible for overall administration and
human resources management of our Group.

Ms. Sze has over 25 years of experience in the marketing
field. Between March 1998 to April 1999, Ms. Sze worked
as a marketing executive in TFH Technology Co., Ltd., a
company which engages in the trading of engineering
equipment and she was mainly responsible for assisting the
sales and marketing manager for formulation and
implementation of sales and marketing strategy.

Ms. Sze graduated from Minzu University of China (1 5R R i&
) in June 1991 with a bachelor’s degree in physics.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

ESERGHREEE (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. KWAN Leung Yu (B8=F), aged 47, is the technology
director of our Group and is responsible for the overall
technical products and supplier relationship management of
our Group. Mr. Kwan has over 20 years of experience in the
engineering field. Mr. Kwan joined our Group in September
1999 as a sales engineer and was promoted to assistant
general manager in April 2004 where he was mainly
responsible for design, tailoring and preparation of technical
proposals of thermal imaging products and services and self-
stabilised imaging related products and services for our
customers. Mr. Kwan obtained his bachelor’s degree in
engineering from The University of Hong Kong in December
1998.

Mr. XIA Xiaoming (E#8H), aged 64, is the chief engineer
of our Group. Mr. Xia joined our Group in 2002 and is
responsible for research and development of the products of
our Group. Mr. Xia has over 20 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From January
1989 to March 1993, Mr. Xia worked as a teacher in Nanjing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics (F =M ZE AR
E) (formerly known as Nanjing University of Aeronautics (F9
FMTZE KE)). From 1993 to 1995, Mr. Xia worked as
technical manager in Shenzhen Transportation Machinery
and Electronics Company* (RYI|Z2 B K E T2 7)) and was
responsible for research and development of mechanical
products.

Mr. Xia obtained a master’'s degree in engineering, and
doctor's degree in engineering, from Nanjing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics (Fd RMZEMAARE) (formerly
known as Nanjing University of Aeronautics (B RfinZe AE)
in December 1984 and May 1989, respectively. He further
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from
Duquesne University in the United States in December
1997.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERGHREEE (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Ms. LEUNG Chin Ching (RR%2), aged 37, is the company
secretary and financial controller of our Group. Ms. Leung
joined our Group in December 2017 and is primarily
responsible for the secretarial, compliance work and overall
financial and accounting operations of our Group.

Ms. Leung has over 14 years of experience in finance and
accounting. She obtained the bachelor degree of business
administration in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in July 2009. She is admitted as a certified public
accountant of the HKICPA in July 2013.

Note: If there is any inconsistency between the official Chinese name of the PRC
laws or regulations or the PRC Government authorities or the PRC entities and
their English translation, the Chinese version shall prevail. English translations
of official Chinese names are for identification purposes only and are marked

with “*".
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company (the “Corporate Governance Report”)
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high
corporate governance standards are essential in providing a
framework for the Group to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability.

Since 11 January 2019, the listing date (the “Listing Date"),
the Company has adopted the principles and the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) during the year
on the Stock Exchange.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
all the applicable code provisions and, where appropriate,
adopted the recommended best practices set out in the CG
Code throughout year ended 31 December 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “"Model
Code”) as set forth in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its own securities dealing code to regulate all dealings by
Directors in the securities of the Company and other matters
covered by the Model Code.

Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and they
have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

THE BOARD

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and Senior
Management

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the
Company and is responsible for overseeing the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board
makes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The day-to-day operations and management are delegated
by the Board to the senior management of the Group, who
is responsible for overseeing the general operation, business
development, finance and marketing.

The Company has arranged insurance coverage in respect of
directors’ liability for all Directors.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of
three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the
date of this Corporate Governance Report, the composition
of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (Chairman)

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen
Mr. HOU Min
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 23 to 30 of this Annual Report. The relationships
between the members of the Board are also disclosed under
the same section.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (“Mr. YEUNG"), being the chairman
of the Board (the “Chairman”), provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of
the Board. Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (“Ms. WONG"), being the
chief executive officer, focuses on the Company’s business
development and the daily management and operations. The
segregation of roles of the Chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company aligns with the requirement pursuant
to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the CG Code, it stipulates that non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election and all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment. The Company has
complied with the requirements of the CG Code that all
Directors are appointed for a term of three years. Such
appointment may be terminated earlier by either party giving
to the other not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least one every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. NIU Zhongjie and Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming AGM of the Company and, being
eligible, offers themselves for re-election.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing more
than one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation in
respect of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term
of three years unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by each independent non
executive Director concerned or our Company expiring at
the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code,the Board
established mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board, including encouraging active
participation of the independent non-executive Directors,
complying with the Listing Rules requirement on the number
of independent non-executive Directors appointed and
ensuring the independent non-executive Directors to devote
sufficient time to discharge their duties as a Director. The
Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of
the mechanism on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely,
the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
and the nomination committee (the “"Nomination
Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. All Board committees are provided
sufficient resources to perform its duties and, if necessary,
to seek independent professional advice at the expense of
the Company to fulfill their responsibilities. They are also
required to report to the Board after each meeting on their
decisions or recommendations.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since 18
December 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules.
Currently, the Audit Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. NIU
Zhongjie, Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen and Mr. HOU Min. Ms.
YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen is the chairwoman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) review
the financial statements; (iii) provide material advice in
respect of our financial reporting process; (iv) oversee our
internal control and risk management systems and audit
process; and (v) provide advice and comment to our Board
on matters related to corporate governance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held
four meetings and has performed the following works:

— recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor and the remuneration;

— considered and reviewed the scope of audit work and
monitored its independence;

— reviewed the unaudited accounts, interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2023 and annual results
for the year ended 31 December 2022;

— reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the
Group; and

— reviewed the effectiveness of the financial reporting
system, internal control and risk management.

In addition, according to our terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Audit Committee also held a meeting with
our external auditor in the absence of the management to
discuss matters relating to the auditor’'s remuneration and
scope of audit works during the year under review.

EEZREE(R)
ERERS
AAREA-E-N\F+-A+/\BRRIE

“EEE  WHER EFMRANEI 2K EER
BiEsE - Bl BXZEQRE=-RBEIIE
WITEE  BFELLE BEELIRER
Tk BBREALTABREZEETNER -

BERZBENTERES () SIS BEI N E
f EBENERAESTSELERRE  (IF
BB mE (M BRERFIERERE
R |v)§*ﬂlﬁ*ﬁ§*h)§2}—k REIE R R EX
R RvpED %:E:'/ BEENEERNES
%%ﬁiﬁﬁ&k

E/\@Eﬁfﬁr %* E %?i@/}\aufh&aﬁ

TTAT I -

—  BERINERHE K EH
HEE

MrEEgi

H

— ZEEEBABEZIERER
IHE;

EREBT

— FHREEZKRR BE_T-_=FX
A=THLERNEANPHEERBE"
777¢—|— A=+—BLEFENFE

— BHEARENFERERS X

— REARBERMBRSE R
RRER -

MEREE1E K

BN RIBFZZESNBERE - REEF
ER - BxZ B ERMMINSZREEE
BERE NRITREH - LT RB B

INE R

BRI FRRENEER -

BFERBRAT /2023 F 8

35



36

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
18 December 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to the amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were
adopted, amended and approved by the Board on 15
December 2022. Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. HOU Min and Mr. NIU Zhongjie and one executive
Director, namely Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching. Mr. HOU Min is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to (i)
review and make recommendations to our Board on the terms
of remuneration packages, bonuses and other compensation
payable to Directors and senior management of the Company;
(i) assessing performance of Directors; and (iii) approve the
terms of the Directors’ service contracts. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the recommendation model described
in E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting and has performed the following works:

— reviewed the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management of the Company and
made recommendations to the Board on their specific
packages; and

— reviewed the fees of the independent non-executive
Directors and made recommendations to the Board.

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEEREmE (&)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the

remuneration of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was set out below:

ExZEE(8)

FHEEE (E)
BECESTASTANEXEEILE  HE
T+ - A=+ BUFERERED
WEBEFHMOT

=
=
=)

e

Within the band of A BN FR Number of individuals
A
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Nomination Committee REZEE

The Nomination Committee has been established since 18 AAFGEBA-ZZE—N\F+=A+/\BREIE

December 2018 with written terms of reference in H%ZEE€ - WER FmH IR C1AEA D

compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules. Currently, the Nomination Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. NIU Zhongjie and Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen and one
executive Director, namely Ms. WONG Kwan Lik. Mr. NIU
Zhongjie is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition of our Board; (ii)
identify individuals suitably qualified to become board
members; (iii) assess the independence of independent non
executive Directors ; and (iv) review and make
recommendations to the Board on appointment or
reappointment of directors and the management of the
Board succession.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting and has performed the following works:

— reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board
and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

— set up the nomination policy of the Company (the
“Nomination Policy”) and reviewed its implementation;

— identified individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

— assessed the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and

— reviewed the Board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and its implementation.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects set out
in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or
qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a director.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve as a
director of the Company, the Nomination Committee would
consider the above criteria necessary to complement the
corporate strategy and achieve board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendations to the Board.

As set out in the Board Diversity Policy, the Company
targets to appoint a minimum of one Director of a different
gender. Throughout 2023 and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board had two female Directors and 50% of the
senior management were female. The Board targets to
maintain the current level of female representation, with the
minimum of one female member. As of 31 December 2023,
74.7% and 25.3% of the Group’s employees were male and
female, respectively. The Group recognises the value of
gender diversity to promote a diverse and inclusive working
environment.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement board diversity and review such objectives from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives. The
Nomination Committee shall review and monitor the
effectiveness of the board diversity of the Board.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board's
composition under diversified perspectives was summarised
as follows:

Educational Background Undergraduate
HEEZ N

Executive

T

Designa‘Eion

B L
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5

Age group
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Length of service 5-10 years
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Postgraduate
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Independent Non-executive
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Female
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Over 10 years

im0

NOMINATION POLICY

The Group adopted the Nomination Policy on 22 February
2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

Objectives

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors. This policy
provides the key selection criteria and principles of the
Nomination Committee in making any such recommendations.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)
Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment
of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination
Committee shall consider a variety of factors including
without limitation the following in assessing the suitability of
the proposed candidate:

(1)  Reputation for integrity;

(2)  Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the
business and other relevant sectors relate to the
Company and/or its subsidiaries;

(3) Commitment in respect of sufficient time and attention
to the Company's business;

(4) Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and experience;

(5)  The ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s
success;

(6) Compliance with the criteria of independence as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
appointment of an independent non-executive Director,
and

(7)  Any other relevant factors as may be determined by
the Nomination Committee or the Board from time to
time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall
be made in accordance with the Articles of Association and
other applicable rules and regulations.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (F)

NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)

Nomination Procedures

In general, the Board shall have the ultimate responsibility
for all matters relating to the selection, appointment and re
appointment of Directors.

(1

(2)

The secretary of the Nomination Committee shall
convene a meeting and invite nominations of candidates
from Board members (if any), for consideration by the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee may
also nominate candidates for its consideration.

In the context of appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall undertake adequate due diligence in respect of
such individual and make recommendations for the
Board's consideration and approval.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation, for the proposed
candidates to stand for re-election at a general meeting.

Review and monitoring of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 22 February 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed
as below.

The Group is committed to maintaining sufficient resources
and flexibility to meet the Group’s financial and operational
requirements. At the same time, the Company continually
seeks ways to enhance shareholders’ value to ensure
sustainable long-term yields for shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company gives priority to
distributing dividend in cash and shares its profits with its
shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its
absolute discretion after taking into account the Group's
financial results, future prospects and other factors, and
subject to:

(1) the Articles of Association;

(2) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the
laws of the Cayman Islands;

(3) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

(4) the investment and operating requirements of the
Group; and

(5) any other factors that have material impact on the
Company.

The Board may consider distributing special dividend to all
shareholders, and the amount of which shall be determined
and approved by the Board at its absolute discretion.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles
of Association of the Company, all of our shareholders have
equal entitlement to dividends and distributions. The Board
shall have the right to review the Dividend Policy from time
to time as it deems fit according to the financial and
business development requirements of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision A.2 of the CG Code.

The Board would review the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management, the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the code
of conduct (the “"Code of Conduct”) applicable to employees
and Directors, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

In accordance with the code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code,
the Board should establish the Company’s purpose, values
and strategy, and satisfy itself that these and the issuer’s
culture are aligned. Aligning with our motto of “Continuous
striving; Cultivating self, Harmonious Peiport family; Caring
for our staff; Contributing to the society; Creating return for
our shareholders”, all Directors must act with integrity, lead
by example, and promote the desired culture. Such culture
should instil and continually reinforce across the organisation
values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.

BOARD MEETINGS

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of
the majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communications.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Notice of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors
at least 14 days in advance while reasonable notice is given
for other Board meetings. Agenda and accompanying board
papers are sent, in full, to all Directors at least 3 days before
the intended date of the regular Board meetings and Board
committees meetings to enable all Directors to make
informed decisions. Minutes of regular Board meetings and
Board committees meetings are drafted by the company
secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) in
sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions
reached. Draft and final versions of minutes of the meetings
are sent to all Board members and Board committee
members for their comment and records, within a
reasonable time after the meetings. Full minutes are kept by
the Company Secretary and open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

The individual attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board and the Board Committees, and the
AGM during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
below:
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HE/BTeENY
Audit Remuneration  Nomination
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Executive Directors HITEE
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Directors
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Chairman has
also met once with all independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors, to discuss various
matters in respect of corporate governance of the Company.

In addition, according to the terms of reference of Audit
Committee, the members of the Audit Committee have met
with the auditors in the absence of the management to
discuss matters relating to the auditor’'s remuneration and
scope of audit works during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’'s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

In accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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BEMEESHRNERERERERHEN
ZHEHNMHFHENABRN G  BREAVEEZE
ARBEHREE e THRNEMRAR
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, all Directors, namely
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching, Ms. WONG Kwan Lik, Mr. YEUNG
Chun Tai, Mr. NIU Zhongjie, Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen and
Mr. HOU Min have confirmed that they had complied with
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code and details are set out
below:

ESNHEERRRE (A)

BE—_ZT-_=F+_A=+—HILFE &%
BEEREGRELE  TBHALE  BIRKEL
o LA BREEL T URERL AR
REEEETEETRRTRNESCEC1 .41 -
FFIEHFIIT -

Types of Trainings

Directors =S (See Remarks)
I
(RER)

Executive Directors PITEE

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching Hfmia st 4 A B

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik TR A, B

Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai BiRZE A A B

Independent Non-Executive BUHBTES

Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie BB E A B

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen BRELL A B

Mr. HOU Min mIREA A B

Remarks: e

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums A HEWEe R Semk dimE

B: reading journals, updates, articles and/or materials, etc. B: TEMST - B3 XERIMEE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required in accordance with the
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December
2023, the Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, the accounts is prepared on a going concern
basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is included in the
"Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 71 to 78 of this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY AND
REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company
appointed Ernst & Young as the external auditor. Details of
the fees paid or payable in respect of the audit and non-audit
services provided by Ernst & Young for the year ended 31

BEREX (&)

RREBE—_T_=F+_A=1+—RHILFE
FRR BB - EEMR - BLEMA - BRAB TR
BRELERE  BEY TABFEREE AR
NEFBRER NI RERRENEFMERT
FEESIFBMR

ZEMBER P B HRE A PRI E T A B
HERAFEEREENEI8EN [ B % H D
R o

BB Y % 35 A

RBE-T_=F+-A=+—HLFE &K
RARERK G BN RGP RINEZEED - B
E-T - _F+ A=t BLEFERRTKE
FHEM SIS PR AR AT MR A IR M E I 3k

December 2023 are set out in the table below: ERBRAMFFBHRTE
Fee paid/
Services Rendered 2R MRS payable
e
EfEHR
HK$'000
FHExT
Audit services: FrthRT -
— Annual audit and related services — FEET RAERE 1,280
Non-audit services: TR -
— Agreed-upon procedures with respect to — BT EmENHERERF K
interim report and other professional H A B R ARG
services 280
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has undertaken the overall responsibility for
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an on-going basis and reviewing their
effectiveness at least annually in order to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives and
ensuring that the Group has established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee to review
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
controls of the Group. Based on its review, the Audit
Committee advises the Board on the effectiveness of the
Group’'s risk management and internal control systems,
including the identification and monitoring of the risks, the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting functions. The management has also
been delegated to design, implement and maintain the
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.

Risk management is curial to promote good corporate
governance. Our risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk control and review. The
management is entrusted with duties to identify, evaluate,
respond, monitor and communicate risks to the head of the
respective business units or department to enforce the
remediation. Risks are assessed by our management and
reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board based on (i)
the probability that the risk will occur; and (i) the severity of the
impact on the Group. According to the likelihood of occurrence
and the impact of the risk, our Group implement the risk
management strategies by avoiding the risk, sharing or
transferring the risk, mitigating the risk, and accepting the risk.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal
control of the Group, the Company appointed external
advisers to undertake the internal audit function and perform
an annual review of the internal control systems of the
Group. The external advisers evaluate the Group's risk
management and internal control systems by reviewing the
material controls, including financial, operation and
compliance. The rotation basis would be applied to
operations with similar risk associated so as to enhance the
efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit function.
Review results and the recommendations in the form of
written report are submitted to the Audit Committee for
discussion and review. Follow up actions will be taken up by
the management of the Group to ensure all significant
control activities are properly in place within the Group and
findings previously identified have been properly resolved.

The Company has conducted annual review on the
effectiveness and efficiency of the Groups risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2023 and the management has confirmed that
there is no significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system has been identified by the external
advisers. During the year under review, both the Board and
the Audit Committee satisfied and confirmed that the
Group's risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate.

B i 2 I O AR A ) (4R

RHE— ISR AN E A R R B I KRB
RRBEEINEPRE AR IBEZBAE - W
AEBENARRES RFETERE IR o MR
FiRBRNEAENER(BENE 28R
B ARHE RSB/ R R EIE R A BRI R
o 3 MIRLURL R O S 75 1 e A i 2 B DAL
THREEA BB E R B - el R N
HEERRGUEHREARRTERZES
TR R LB - AEEE R E B RIRETT
8 MEREAKEANZBERME E AL
AE - HEME#RNRBECS ZEFR -

ARREHAEEHEZE_ZT_=F+=_A
—T—HIEFENRRERERAIIZES RGN
BRERMEETFERT  MEREDHER
SNEBER R W BRI R B ERAT R 2
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Y EMRER  AEBHRKREIERAEHE
FIRFHBERETRE °
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for handling
the dissemination of inside information, the Group has
adopted a policy on the disclosure of inside information (the
“Inside Information Policy”) in order to comply with the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") and the Listing
Rules. According to the Inside Information Policy, the
Company has taken appropriate measures to identify inside
information and preserve its confidentiality until proper
dissemination via the electronic publication system operated
by the Stock Exchange. Senior management of the Group
must take all reasonable measures to ensure that proper
safeguards exist to prevent the leakage of inside information
of the Company from time to time. They must also promptly
bring any possible leakage or divulgence of inside
information to the attention of the Board accordingly for
taking the appropriate action promptly.

Whistleblowing and Anti-Corruption

The Board has adopted the whistle-blowing policy to report
on grievances, misconducts or violations. Formal reporting
channel is established to protect the identification of whistle
blower. If there is any suspected misconduct or malpractice
within the Group, we encourage our employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to come forward and voice
those concerns.

In addition, to prevent bribery and corruption within our
Group, we have formulated the Code of Conduct in order to
set out the basic standard of conduct of all Directors and
staff, and the Company's policy on acceptance of advantage
and handling of conflict of interest when dealing with the
Company's business.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. LEUNG Chin Ching, who is
also the financial controller of the Group, is a full-time
employee of the Company. She reports to the Board through
the Chairman and/or the chief executive officer on
governance matters. Also, all Directors should have access
to her advice and services to ensure that board procedures,
and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.
Her biography is set out on page 30 of this Annual Report in
the section of “Directors and Senior Management”.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Ms. LEUNG Chin
Ching has confirmed that she has complied with all the
qualifications and training requirements as required under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (the
“EGM”) by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may whenever it thinks fit call an EGM. EGM shall
also be convened on the requisition of any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company, such member shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary
of the Company, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)
Putting Forward Proposals at a General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company at Suite 602, 6/F., Chinachem
Leighton Plaza, No. 29 Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong
Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she
intends to put forward at general meeting regarding any
specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put forward enquiries to the
Board at general meeting or send written enquiries to the
Company for the attention of the Company Secretary at the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Suite
602, 6/F., Chinachem Leighton Plaza, No. 29 Leighton Road,
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication
policy on 18 December 2018. Such policy is monitored and
reviewed by the Board on a regular basis to ensure its
effectiveness. The Company considers that effective
communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing
investor relations and investor understanding of the Group's
business performance and strategies. The Company endeavors
to maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders and in
particular, through AGMs and other general meetings. At the
forthcoming AGM, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate)
will be available to meet shareholders and answer their
enquiries.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS (Continued)

To promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at “www.peiport.com “. Through its
website, the Company provides shareholders with corporate
information, corporate governance practice, interim and
annual reports, announcements, circulars and etc. The
Company will also update the website information from time
to time to inform the shareholders and investors of the
latest development of the Company.

During the year under review, an annual general meeting of
the Company was held on 9 June 2023 at which all the
Directors attended to communicate with the shareholders of
the Company. All corporate communication and regulatory
announcements were timely published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board considers
that the shareholders communication policy is effective
during the year ended under review.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, the Company has amended
and restated its memorandum and Articles of Association on
9 June 2023. An up to date version of the memorandum and
Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Report of the Directors
ESERE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries were principally engaged in the provision of (i)
thermal imaging products and services; (ii) self-stabilised
imaging products and services; and (iii) general aviation
products and services. An analysis of the principal activities
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this Annual Report.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as
required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, an indication of likely future developments
in the Group's businesses and other relevant information,
can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
set out on pages 5 to 9 and pages 10 to 22 of this Annual
Report, respectively. Such discussion forms part of this
"Report of the Directors”.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, compliance with relevant laws and
regulations and the key relationships with the Company's
key stakeholders which have a significant impact on the
Group are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability
of the environment and is committed to becoming an
environmentally friendly corporation. Details of our
environmental, social and governance policies and
performance during the year ended 31 December 2023 shall
be disclosed in a standalone "“Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” and to be published at the same time
as the publication of the Annual Report on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
and the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2023
are set out in the financial statements on pages 80 to 81.
The Board are pleased to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.35 cents (2022: HK1.35 cents) per share for
the year ended 31 December 2023 and a special dividend of
HK1.35 cents (2022: Nil) per share to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Wednesday, 26 June 2024, subject to the
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM to be held
on Wednesday, 12 June 2024. It is expected that the
Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend
will be paid on or before Monday, 8 July 2024. The Proposed
Final Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend shall be
declared and distributed in Hong Kong dollars.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited results and the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements as restated/reclassified as appropriate,
is set out on page 2 of this Annual Report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
1 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 24
to the financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in “Share Option Scheme” as set out in
this section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note
35 to the financial statements and the consolidated
statements of changes in equity. The distributable reserve of
the Company as at 31 December 2023 was HK$59,941,000.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, sales to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for 49.2% of the
total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 25.4%.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 85.0% of
the total purchases for the year and purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 63.4%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this Annual Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (Chairman)
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie
Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen
Mr. HOU Min

The Company has received written annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee has duly reviewed the independence
of each of these directors. The Company considered that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed
"Directors and Senior Management” on pages 23 to 30 of
this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement
with our Company for a term of three years and are subject
to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
The term of the service contracts may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the
applicable rules of the Listing Rules.

Save as discussed above, none of the Directors proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract with the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not terminable by employing company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and chief
executive officer and the five highest paid employees of the
Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements of this Annual Report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty
in their offices. The Company has maintained appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to provide
appropriate coverage for the Directors and other officers of
the Group throughout the year and are currently in force.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport Alpha Ltd. ("Peiport
Alpha”), each being the controlling shareholder (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Company (the "“Controlling
Shareholder (s) ") , have entered into a deed of non-
competition dated 18 December 2018 (in favour of the
Company (the “Deed of Non-Competition”). Details of the
Deed of Non-Competition was set out in the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
prospectus of the Company. The Company has received
confirmations from Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport
Alpha of their compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport
Alpha declared that they have fully complied with the Deed
of Non-Competition for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders and confirmed that up to the date of this
Annual Report, all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-
Competition have been complied with by Mr. YEUNG, Ms.
WONG and Peiport Alpha.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this Annual Report, the following Directors
and chief executive officer of the Company had or were
deemed to have interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code:

EERTRARRKRSG  HEROR
EEEPNERERAR

RAFERERH - THRRRESERITHAE
BRARAHEEAREEE(EERFFR
HIE RGBSR XV E#B) 2 Bt ~ MRt B E
FHEB IR SEE () RIEFEF MG GROIE
XVEBE 7 M8 BPAME ANR R MM At 2 4
DIAR (BRBEEFREEZ LB GO 2%
EREWREFHIRREBEZERNAR) K
(i) IRI5 78 7 K B G 16151 35 352 IR 7R FC 8RN RX 16k
DIFrte 2 Bt 2 B SOXR ¢ (i) RIBF
ETRBHE AN R MR P2 amsURR ¢

Ordinary Shares of the Company: AT ZEBRRM
Number of Approximate

Capacity/ ordinary shares and percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
Exps B Rty EERNYE REHER BFEREBAE D (%)
Mr. YEUNG® Interest of a controlled 300,000,000 Shares (L) 75%?

corporation
BEAEe SIEHAE R 300,000,000 A% B 7 (L)
Ms. WONG® Interest of spouse 300,000,000 Shares (L) 75%?
Tt foiBHEss 300,000,000 A& A& 1 (L)
Notes: ffEE -
1. The letter “L" denotes to the person with long position in the shares of the 1. F L] EBZALTRARBRD ([N ) BiF e o
Company (the “Share(s)").

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 400,000,000 Shares in issue 2. ER BRI E T % B TR 4 £400,000,000 &

after completion of the global offering.

3. Our Company is owned as to approximately 756% by Peiport Alpha. The entire
issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 50% and 30% by Mr.
YEUNG and Ms. WONG, respectively. Ms. WONG is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG
and therefore each of Ms. WONG and Mr. YEUNG is deemed to be interested
in Shares held by Peiport Alpha pursuant to the SFO. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG
and Peiport Alpha together are a group of Controlling Shareholders of our
Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Ordinary Shares of an Associated Corporation —
Peiport Alpha:

EERTRARRKRSG  AEROR
BREIETNEERAR (&)

HFFEE — BB EE 2 EBRRAD

Number of Approximate
Capacity/ ordinary shares and percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
ExpE 51/ RntE EERNBE RESEH BFREBAE D (%)
Mr. YEUNG® Beneficiary owner 8 shares (L)" 80%?
o pita s ERnEEA SR 15 (L)
Ms. WONG® Interest of spouse 8 shares (L) 80%?
Frt® BB R 8RR 15 (L)
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai ~ Beneficiary owner 2 shares (L) 20%?
BIRER A ERnEEA 2 AR (L)
Notes: PiEE

1. The letter “L" denotes to the person with long position in the shares.

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 10 shares of Peiport Alpha in
issue.

3. The entire issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 5 shares and 3
shares by Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG respectively. Since Ms. WONG is the
spouse of Mr. YEUNG, pursuant to the SFO, they are deemed to be interested
in 80% of issued share capital of Peiport Alpha and the Shares held by Peiport
Alpha.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, none of the Directors and chief executive officer of
the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he was taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the
register referred to therein or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’
and chief executive officer’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” in this section, at
no time during the year ended 31 December 2023 were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the “"Connected Transactions” as set
out in this section and the related party transactions
disclosed in note 29 to the financial statements of this
Annual Report, no Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in a
business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) has been conditionally adopted on 18
December 2018.

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants (the “Eligible Participants”), to take up options
to subscribe for the shares:

(1) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(2) any directors (including executive, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(3) any advisers (professional or otherwise), consultants,
suppliers, customers and agents to our Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and

(4) related entities who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to our Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing
Date and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme (i.e. 17 December 2028). As at the
date of this Annual Report, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme was around four years and eight months.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 shares, representing
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the Listing
Date and as at the date of this Annual Report. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options granted to
each eligible participant in the Share Option Scheme
(including both exercised and outstanding options) within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. A grant of share options
under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief
executive officer or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is
the grantee of the option). In addition, any grant of share
options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, which would result in the shares issued and to
be issued, upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding), to such person in the 12-month period up to
and including the date of the grant in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue and with an aggregate value
(based on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted on or
before the relevant acceptance date upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that such a
period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of offer
of the share options and subject to the provisions for early
termination as set out in the Share Option Scheme. There is
no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised. The exercise price of the share options
shall be not less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer
of the share options, which must be a date on which the
Stock Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities;
(ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the
Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
before the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company's share as at the date of offer.

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and
is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions Eligible Participants had or may have made to
the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in our
Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii)
attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the
Group.

No options had been granted or agreed to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme during the year and up to the date
of this Annual Report. The Company did not have any
outstanding share options, warrants and convertible
instruments into shares as at 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As of the date of this Annual Report, so far as was known to
any Director, or chief executive officer of our Company, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executive officer of the Company) had, or were deemed to
have, interests and/or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to our Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRAR®D - HBERO R EER
RS

RAFEREBH  BARRESTHITRAE
PR - AT AL (RRREERITHRARIRIN)
RARBRAD -« ARRERR (D N EAE R A K
BREBRBEES KPR GRIIEXVEE 2R3
DEARAARNE REZ R E RS R, SOK
BRRARARIEZE KB GG 336 (FRE
B2 B MR s kAR

Number of Approximate

Name of Capacity/ ordinary shares and percentage of
Shareholder Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)

EBERNEE
BREEEB B Rty RFEZER BFRBAE DL (%)
Peiport Alpha® Beneficial owner 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%%?
1 R E=EEA 300,000,000 &A% 17 (L)™
Mr. YEUNG® Interest in a controlled 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%?

corporation

B Rt EE kR 300,000,000 A& A& 12 (L)@
Ms. WONG® Interest of spouse 300,000,000 Shares (L)™ 75%%?
Frt® [ e 300,000,000 A& Bz 5 (L)
Notes: PHaE -
1. The letter “L” denotes to the entity’s with long position in the securities. 1. FRLIEZEBNBELENTE -
2. The calculation is based on the total number of 400,000,000 Shares in issue 2. ERE I E T E B E1TIRD 4 £400,000,000 %

after completion of the global offering.

3. Our Company is owned as to approximately 756% by Peiport Alpha. The entire
issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 50% and 30% by Mr.
YEUNG and Ms. WONG, respectively. Ms. WONG is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG
and therefore each of Ms. WONG and Mr. YEUNG is deemed to be interested
in Shares held by Peiport Alpha pursuant to the SFO. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG
and Peiport Alpha together are a group of Controlling Shareholders of our
Company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, none of the substantial or significant shareholders or
other persons, other than the Directors and chief executive
officer of the Company whose interests are set out in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive officer's
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures” in this section, had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying shares as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the employment contracts,
concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
was entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 are disclosed in note 29 to
the financial statements. These transactions were conducted
in accordance with terms as agreed between us and the
respective related parties. Our Directors confirm that all
related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2023 were conducted on normal commercial
terms that were reasonable and in the interest of our Group
as a whole. Save as disclosed in below sections of this
Annual Report, there were no other connected transactions
or non-exempted continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FERRRKRS - HEROREEE
PR ()

(R EXPRIREEESN RAFERE A - HE
IZYURFRERRIEMBAL(ARAES
RATHABE RSN - BB ANED [EF RTT
BARE R - ABRER D R ERERE T R K
KR —BIRARBIBR D RBEROTHEE
AR RIRBES M EIRPIF 3B IGRHREHE
Z B MR TS SRR

BEEEH

REBE-T-_=F+-A=-+—HLEFE &
P L AR B X B 2RI ERE DA
ERNMTHREERUXFESHN(BESHOR
Hh) e

B X5

AEBREE T _=F+_-_A=+—HI%F
EIIUMBEB IR SEBERNT B REM T
29 o % 5E X SR BLAR FE A E U7 1 AU 165K
EIT - BMNESER REBEE-_Z-_=F
T AT —HIEFENME B TR 5191%
BN M EIRTETT WA AEBRMNE
BERa o RANF ERE T XERFTIHEEIN
RAFERE B E EHREIE T E AR
ERXSIERPIFEBER S - NAREESF
EMRAIE VAEZEREHEERTE ©



Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing Connected Transactions

On 15 December 2022, the Company, on behalf of its
associates as the tenants, and Ms. WONG, Mr. YEUNG and
Peiport Scientific as the landlords, entered into the
framework lease agreement (the “Framework Lease
Agreement”) in respect of the properties provided by the
landlords to the Group to streamline the leasing relationship
in respect of the leased properties between the Group and
the landlords. The Framework Lease Agreement shall
become effective on 1 January 2023 and be valid for a term
of two years.

In accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards 16 applicable to the Group, the leases to be
entered into by the Company as lessee under the
Framework Lease Agreement will be recognised as right-of-
use assets.

Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG are the Controlling
Shareholders and executive Directors, while Peiport
Scientific is owned as to 70% and 30% by Mr. YEUNG and
Ms. WONG, respectively and is an associate of the
Controlling Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Mr. YEUNG,
Ms. WONG and Peiport Scientific is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
transactions under the Framework Lease Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps in respect of the total value of right-of-use
assets to be recognised by the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 are
HK$2.5 million and HK$6.0 million, respectively.

Pursuant to the Framework Lease Agreement, the Group (as
tenant) rented properties in Hong Kong and the Chinese
Mainland from the landlords for use as warehouses, system
integration and service centres, offices and car parking
spaces. These individual leases have a lease term of not
more than three years, with rental at fixed amount. The total
value of right-of-use assets to be recognised by the Group to
the landlords in respect of these leases under the
Framework Lease Agreement as of 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$2,500,000 and the aggregate value
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$1,664,000.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these
continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company's shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst & Young,
the Company's external auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Financial statements and with reference to
Practice Note 740 Auditors’ Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the
HKICPA. Ernst & Young issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and
confirmed the continuing connected transactions did not
exceed the respective annual caps during the year.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected tractions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure
of connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the remuneration policy for
employees of the Group is determined based on their
responsibilities, qualifications, performance, experience and
seniority which are reviewed periodically.

Compensation of Directors of the Group is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, approved by the Board and
authorised by the shareholders at the AGM of the Company,
which is based on the Group’'s performance and the
Directors’ respective contributions to the Group.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” on pages 62 to 64 of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by our
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”
section on pages 31 to 53 of this Annual Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at
the date of this Annual Report, at least 25% of the
Company's total number of issued shares were held by the
public.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event after the reporting period are
set out in note 33 to the financial statements.
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AUDITOR

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM for
the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent
auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board of Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
26 March 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B R RENRE

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY=x

To the shareholders of Peiport Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the ""Company’’) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “"Group’’) set out on pages 79 to 172, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"') issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (""HKICPA"’) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BET RS ()

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"') issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
""Code’’), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 RET RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HAREREE

HREZEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EENERNMNEEARERER

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables

B 5 WA R FE R 1R 19 5l (8 A

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade and bills
receivables of HK$57,705,000, after making an impairment
provision of HK$14,146,000, among which HK$12,477,000
were provided for certain individual customers. The Group
applies the simplified approach to provide impairment for
expected credit losses (""ECLs"’) under HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECLs for all trade and bills
receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade and bills
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due, and the calculation of
ECLs is based on the historical observable default rates and
forward-looking information. The ECLs of trade and bills
receivables were HK$14,146,000 as at 31 December 2023.
RZZBEZ=F+-A=+—0  BSERMERH 14,146,000
Bk AEE SRR RIE K E W E 57,705,000 7T - HH
12,477,000 8 T RE TEMNEFPEE - BEXEHRAM™ILE  $%E
B BEREENFEIR THEACEEEB((BREESHE R
B ZERAFHRTE B 5 RUIGRIE KB W EE (A 2 BT 4
EEEE -Gt ERHREEEE  BHRKFIERERERERE
HAGEERREH AN ESHE - mEREEEBRIENBER
BRMERERAEEERGE RN E=F+-A=1+—AK
B o RWFIERENEEREREEEER 14,146,000 T °

We focused on this area because it required a high level of
management judgement and estimation and the amounts
involved were material.
EEMIZERANEFTESKTINEREHE KRG - AP Rk
EREH o

The Group's disclosures of the trade and bills receivables
are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the financial
statements.

EEEYE R KRTIARERRENREH NV BHRERME2.4 3
K17 o

We assessed the Group’s internal control
over the credit control of trade and bills
receivables. We also reviewed
management’'s assessment regarding
the recoverability of the Group's trade
and bills receivables by evaluating the
assumptions and methodologies of the
ECLs model, obtaining evidence which
included background search and review
of repayment history, checking the
accuracy of ageing of trade and bills
receivables and forward-looking
information, and recalculating ECLs. We
also assessed the disclosures related to
trade and bills receivables in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BET RS ()

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRELEE

HRELZSE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

ESNERNMNEERRERER

Provision for inventory obsolescence

REFEEE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had inventories of
HK$71,223,000, after making provision for inventory
obsolescence of HK$2,455,000. Provision for inventory
obsolescence is based on management judgement using
the available data and existing circumstances, including, but
not limited to, the physical conditions, market selling prices
and estimated selling costs of the inventories.
RZTEZ=F+-A=+—H ' ESfEELEREGTER®E
2,455,000/ L1 B 17K 71,223,000 T - REFEBEHIENE
BECEAAGHEEIRBEFEL(BRFEETERRFENERAKR W
5B RAAETHE AR T AE 80 2 o

We focused on this area as the inventories were material to
the consolidated financial statements and the determination
of provision for inventory obsolescence involved significant
management judgement and estimation.
EERIRBEB AR GFEHGREVBRREEN  BEERET
EREY R EEERE AN R ET -

The Group’s disclosures of the inventories are included in
notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to the financial statements.
BEEEHTFENBREHNUEREAMNMT24 3R 16

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

We attended management’s inventory
counts and observed the processes at
material inventory locations, including
observing the processes implemented by
management to identify and monitor
obsolete inventories. We evaluated the
assessments made by management in
respect of the identification of inventory
obsolescence by assessing the inventory
costing, ageing reports, and obsolete
inventories on a sampling basis. We re-
calculated the provision for inventory
obsolescence in accordance with the
Group’s policy.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 RET RS ()

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BET RS ()

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
Company’'s audit committee (the “"Audit Committee”’) in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
B2 RE RS (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRBAMRERGS M B RRAEREN
B1E (&)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B 2 BET RS ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Hui Kin Fai, Stephen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEEakEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December 2023 EZ —Z —

S+ A=+ AR

2023 2022
—EC-=& o 7
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 THERT TAT
(Restated)
(48 55)
REVENUE 2 5 264,037 245,612
Cost of sales SHERA (182,608) (172,883)
Gross profit ES 81,429 72,729
Other income and gains, net H g A R e B 58 ® 4,903 2,302
Selling and distribution expenses HERDERY (33,313) (30,461)
Administrative expenses TERX (38,541) (34,907)
Other expenses HiBI (18,268) (14,405)
Finance costs BETS R R 7 (576) (525)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB AIEE 6 (4,366) (5,267)
Income tax credit FrETiE 2 10 770 1,622
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEFE (3,596) (3,645)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hth2E M
Other comprehensive loss that BEAN- S e e
may be reclassified to profit or BEamEtmEEsE:
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on BEINBEERRER =5
translation of foreign operations (1,240) (3,725)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREMEZEER
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX HIKRBE (1,240) (3,725)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FR2AEBRAETE
FOR THE YEAR (4,836) (7,370)
Loss attributable to: VAT &7 e B8 -
Owners of the parent SREEEA (3,263) (3,229)
Non-controlling interests =g (333) (416)
(3,596) (3,645)
Total comprehensive loss UTEHEEEZEBRES
attributable to:
Owners of the parent BAREBA (4,503) (6,954)
Non-controlling interests JEERR R RS (333) (416)
(4,836) (7,370)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREARREAA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EihERER
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted EAREE 12 HK(0.82) cents 1l HK(0.81) cents &l
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR R

31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
—E-=HF —Eo—F
+=-HA=+—H +=—A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BisE FTER FHET
(Restated)
(#mE5)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEK&E 13 6,616 7,688
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 14 5,147 9,317
Intangible assets mIAE 15 538 883
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 23 10,498 7,313
Total non-current assets FEREBEERE 22,799 25,201
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 16 71,223 52,938
Trade and bills receivables BoEWEAREKRERE 17 57,705 75,098
Prepayments, deposits and other TRFIE - Ze K
receivables Hu R IE 18 13,745 21,983
Cash and cash equivalents BHERHESZEEY 19 243,342 244,598
Total current assets MEEERE 386,015 394,617
CURRENT LIABILITIES RESE
Trade payables 2 SR FIE 20 17,012 20,759
Other payables and accruals Hit N B R ETE A 21 18,935 17,250
Contract liabilities aEHEaE 22 20,321 15,460
Lease liabilities HEaE 14 4,211 5,142
Tax payable FERRRIE 4,967 4,268
Total current liabilities MEEERE 65,446 62,879
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 320,569 331,738
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBERE
LIABILITIES 343,368 356,939
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 1,058 4,382
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIER & 23 65 76
Total non-current liabilities FrBaERE 1,123 4,458
Net assets BEFE 342,245 352,481
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI ()

31 December 2023 —FE—-—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
—E-=HF —Eo—F
+=-A=+—H +=-A=+—H
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FTHET FAT
(Restated)
(=51)
EQUITY &
Equity attributable to owners of BAREA AEGEDS
the parent

Share capital AR 24 4,000 4,000
Reserves i 25 338,332 348,235
342,332 352,235
Non-controlling interests IR (87) 246
Total equity EmaE 342,245 352,481

YEUNG Lun Ching

mimiE
Director

EF

WONG Kwan Lik

B
Director

EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in

mEERBER

Year ended 31 December 2023 #Z —F -~ =4+ _HA=+—HIFFZ

Attributable to owners of the parent

Equity

NG 2N
Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share Other  surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserve* rqserve* reserve* profits* Total  interests equity
y tERE  EXRE ) Enly
x ROEE* EfbE: e BEr REET 5t Bn EnlE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Thn Tt TExr  Tér  ThEn Tt TExr  Tér  ThEn
(note 24) (note 25)  (note 25)
(Wit 24) (Wit2s)  (Wi2s)
At 31 December 2021 RZE_—-%+-A=1-H 4,000 96,846 (66,843) 5,485 1939 323000 364517 668 365,175
Effect of adoption of amendments ~ FAEESHERF 125
to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(b)) BAIAzF2(HiE2.20) = = = = = 7 7 4 76
At 1 January 2022 {restated) RZE-—£-f-H
(& e5) 4,000 96,846 (66,843) 5,485 1939 323162 364,589 662 365251
Loss for the year (restated) ENER(EE5]) - - = - - B2y B2 w6 (3645)
Other comprehensive loss for EREZEEE:
the year:
Exchange differences on BENERBHERES
translation of foreign operations - - - - (3,725) - (3,725) - (3,725)
Total comprehensive loss for ERZEBEES (TE5)
the year (restated) = = - - (3,725) (3229) (6,954) 416) (7,370
Transfer from retained profits BRERBEN - - - 138 - (138) - - -
Final 2021 dividend paid ENZBZ-FRERE - (B4 - - = - (BA00) - (B4
At31 December 2022 [restated) ~ RZZ-—F
TZR=F-R (&) 4,000 91,446 (66,843) 5,623 (1786)  31979% 352,235 246 362481
At 31 December 2022 i
+-A=+-H 4,000 91,446 (66,843) 5,623 (1,786) 319,757 352,197 245 352,442
Effect of adoption of amendments ~ FAEE & ERIE 125
o HKAS 12 [note 2.2(b) TRz & (2.0 = - - - - 38 38 1 39
At 1 January 2023 (restated| R-2-=%#-f-H
(& e5) 4,000 91,446 (66,843) 5,623 (1,786) 319,795 352,235 246 352481
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (3.263)  (3,263) (333)  (3,59)
Other comprehensive loss for EREMEAEE:
the year:
Exchange differences on RENEEBNERZE
translation of foreign operations - - - - (1,240) - (1,240) - (1,240)
Total comprehensive loss for EMEEEELE
the year - - - - (1240 (3.263)  (4,503) (333)  (4,836)
Transfer from retained profits EREREE - - - 109 - (109) - - -
Final 2022 dividend paid R i3 = (5,400) - - = = (5,400) = (5400)
At 31 December 2023 e
tZA=t-H 4,000 86,046 (66,843) 5132 (3,026) 316423 342332 (87) 342,245
o These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of o WERELEGETERIARAHLES HE

HK$338,332,000 (2022: HK$348,235,000(restated)) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SERERER

Year ended 31 December 2023 EZ —Z —

=F+_A=+—HIFFE

2023 2022
—E_= =T T AE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FTHET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHRBRENE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax: BRTEAIEE (4,366) (5,267)
Adjustments for: HATEIBELFAE
Finance costs B 75 Ak A 7 576 525
Bank interest income RITH BHA 5 (4,279) (345)
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - BE &
property, plant and equipment HEEE BB 6 136 -
Depreciation of property, M - BB KRGS
plant and equipment 6 1,817 2,382
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEAEEERE 6 7,137 6,939
Amortisation of intangible assets A E 6 338 523
Provision for/(reversal of) REFERE (BE)F8E
inventory obsolescence, net 6 291 (405)
Provision for/(reversal of) FEWRIB R ER B/ ()
doubtful receivables, net FER 6 11,879 (502)
Written-off of trade receivables EMEHE 5 RURIA 6 810 3,413
14,339 7,263
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FEGEhm), wmd (19,477) 12,832
Decrease in trade and bills receivables & 5 fE I8 [ fE U Z 1%
S 2,752 15,935
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TARTRIA « e REA R
deposits and other receivables RIBERA,/(3800) 7,918 (769)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e FRIE AN 73 3,427
Increase in other payables and accruals — E i (< 718 K fE 5+ & & hn 1,991 3,514
Increase in contract liabilities SHBEEM 5,143 1,412
Cash generated from operations EEMEARS 12,739 43,614
Interest received U & 4,279 345
Interest paid ERFLE (576) (525)
Income taxes paid B SR (1,721) (2,598)
Net cash flows from operating activities &< EEAEBIRE R EF5 14,721 40,836
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHMBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, WEEME « BE MREEE
plant and equipment 13 (998) (2,394)
Proceeds from disposal of items HEME - BB R
of property, plant and equipment RETEE B IUE 5 -
Additions of intangible assets REBTEE 15 - (342)
Additions of time deposits with NEBARREIHAZ
original maturity of more than R=@AZ
three months when acquired FEHIER (15,600) (39,000)
Net cash flows used in RERSAE S REFE
investing activities (16,593) (41,736)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
mEHERER(E)

Year ended 31 December 2023 E#{Z —F — =41+ _-H=1—HIFF/ZE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B = TET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RETBMESHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Principal portion of lease payments HENTEAE I D 26(b) (7,222) (7,171)
Dividend paid BERRE (5,400) (5,400)
Net cash flows used in financing BB EEFARS REFE
activities (12,622) (12,571)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRBEZEYNRS ERE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (14,494) (13,471)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHe RREEEY
beginning of year 205,598 223,963
Effect of foreign exchange rate AN FE SR Bl 5 B E RR
changes, net (2,362) (4,894)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRASRRSEEY
AT END OF YEAR 188,742 205,598
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeRREZBYELIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Non-pledged and non-restricted EEARIEZREIRE
cash and bank balances RARITHE R 19 92,446 199,969
Non-pledged and non-restricted A RIEZ RS E BFR
time deposits 19 150,896 44,629
Cash and cash equivalents as stated RE MBARRERTIR €
in the consolidated statement of KRB EEY
financial position 19 243,342 244,598
Non-pledged time deposits with W B R EIHA B R = A A
original maturity of more than R AR E BE R
three months when acquired (54,600) (39,000)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated meRengRMmiAe
in the consolidated statement RESEED
of cash flows 188,742 205,598
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office of the Company is located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company.
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) were principally engaged in
the provision of (i) thermal imaging products and
services; (ii) self-stabilised imaging products and
services; and (iii) general aviation products and
services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Group is Peiport Alpha Ltd., which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI").

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as
follows:

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration and registered
Name business share capital
R/ ERAR BRTEER/
£ gk ZfRA

Notes to Financial Statements
RS EL

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

1. QARAREEER

BEERERAR(ARF]) BRHAS
HEFMEZHBRAR - KRR
fit ¥ = g b #k A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
AR A —HIEEZERAR - FRAR
AINREMB AR (5l [ ANEE]) 28
SRMEONAKNEERRRSE : ()BT
PR Em R ARTS ¢ K (i) A M ZEEm R
PR -
BEERA ARBENEKERAR AR
ERBEARAR  HRRBHR R
S EBERRFS ) EMK -
MEBARER
ARARIMBRARMFFBET

Percentage of equity

attributable to the
Company Principal activities
NG}
BRBDL FTEEK
Direct Indirect
B G
% %

Peiport Bravo Ltd. BVI/Hong Kong Hong Kong dollar

("HKS$") 1
REERERAR ABERREE/BA 1BT(BT))
Peiport Creative Ltd. BVI/Hong Kong HK$1
RERIFERAA ABERRES/BA 187
Peiport Delta Ltd. BVI/Hong Kong HK$1
REEREERAR ABERRES/BA 187
Connax Education Limited Hong Kong HK$1
BEHEERDA BB 1T

100 - Investment holding
RERR

100 - Investment holding
RERR

100 - Investment holding

ALK

Investment holding

ALK
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B &R M T (B8

31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Name

£

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

R/ AR
ok

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BROLER/
A

1.

AEIREBER (&)
MEARER (&)
Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company Principal activities
NG )
EmEA TEER
Direct Indirect
i B
% %

Peiport Scientific Aero Limited

HENRARAH

Peiport Industries Limited

DNL Optoelec Systems Limited

BEREZRERATA

Dr X Academy of Robotics and
Coding Hong Kong Limited

BETREAREE(FR)
BRAA

Peiport (Shanghai) Optoelectronics
Technology Limited ©

i 58) K ENBERARY

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong

30

People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC")/
Chinese Mainland

mEARLMNE
(&), /HE R

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HK$1

18T

HK$2,000,000

2,000,000 7T

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000/ 7C

HK$3,000,000

3,000,000/ 7T

Renminbi
("RMB")
20,180,000

ARE(TARE])
20,180,0007C

100

70

Provision of (i) thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services

BRA () 2P R EE i SRS 2
(i) BRERGER KRS : &
(i) 3% PR o 22 28 cm X PR 75

Provision of (i) thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services

REOBKREER RS
(i) BRERGER KRS : &
(i) 3% PR o 22 28 cm X PR 75

Provision of thermal imaging
products and services

R R B R AR

Provision of science, technology,
engineering, mathematics,
coding and robotics education
services

RERE - ffl IR 82
R R AHA R

Provision of (i) thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (i) general
aviation products and services

Rflt () B o R
(i) BRERGENRRY &
(i) 3 A A 22 2 m X R



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TSR AR B oE (4])

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/
registration and registered
Name business share capital
RIL/ERR BRITLER/
28 okt A

1.

AEIREBER (&)
MEARER (&)
Percentage of equity
attributable to the
Company Principal activities
NG )3
EEEA TEER
Direct Indirect
¢ B
% %

Guangzhou Peiport Sijing PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000
Optoelectronics System Limited ©!
ENGEREBXEZAGERARAY  FE/HEA ARH
20,000,0007T
Beijing Peiport Jingdu PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB5,100,000
Technology Limited ©
IRERERBRHEERAFY e,/ REN AR#5,100,000 7T
Peiport (Zhuhai) Air Equipment PRC/Chinese Mainland United States
Manufacturing Limited © dollars (“US$")
250,000
fE (RS MEBRMBEARAR Y FE/HERM 250,000% 7T
(EIA))
(a) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law

(b) Registered as limited liability companies under the PRC law

(a)

(b)

100  Provision of (i) thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services

Heflt () B 2 n IR
(i) BRERGENRRY : &
(i) B A = B m X R 7

100  Provision of (i) thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services

Heflt () B 2 o IR
(i) BRENGENRRY : &
(i) B A = B m X R 7

100 Provision of general aviation
products and services

REBRMZEER KRS

REFBEAEIMANBERE

REBPEDZEEMAER QA
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. The financial statements are
presented in HK$ and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B A& R R My =T (48)

31 December 2023 —E =+ —_H=+—H

21 RBEEE

BBRRDBREBEERGAMAS(FE
SETEN AR |) M8 ) F 8 B 5 S 22 R
([BEMBRELEL ) (BEABEBR
BmEEL  BREGFEN(ER S
R RRE)  REBARGINKE
5T T A B o B D% I L Rk AR 1B ] AR
2o MBHRAETLE - BFEEE
BHBESEONTAN  EXARAE
BRON o

REANREE

HAMBBRERARERE_T_=
F+-A=+T—HALEFENTBERRK -

MEBARAARBERAFEREHNE
B(EREREER) EA5EE2H
REHREBNZPORAERRKF
BREFIA N B RE R E S RAES (A
AEBEEETHEENUNIERELR
HHERE SR BRI RER) R E % T 0 b
BOER{S 2 I #E -

R—RIBERATHEES BREETKE
BT - WARRERELIREKREY
KRZHREHBOENOER - BIA
SERNFHEESSHAHKREHRNE
NReER—EBEEERIEN B8

(a) HEREHRNHMBEFZERBAN
BRI

(b) EABAILPPIELAERN &
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B iRk M= (48)

31 December 2023 —E—-—=4#F+—_H=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 RBEEE)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’'s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

REANREXE (&)

MY A R M RREREARF -
MEBRZA RS HRGS - M8
NEMFRERARERSTHEE AL
AAARARRE - YREFASGRAKRER
ZIEHIREIEER B -

BaEkEMm2EksEn S EAKE DR
BRASESRRNES A RIEERE
o AELREEBRERESLRE
MR TAEABAASESKE QAR
MR ZHEERNLARHEEREE
#mE WA AxXkBEEREERNES
FRERZBURE o

i =8 R B BRR b XAt = TR I A
RZ-HEXZELBREL  AEESE
A EERREHREHSR - R—RH
BRABMBEAEEZZS  HEIXEKRE
ZHIHE - RS R S AR

MAEBREMB AR ZEGE  Blg
RIEERNEEE(EERER)  AE -
EAAT R 4% A e 2 I B SO BD i - AT
RIEARERENRFERFEELR
B RN T RSB - THER
H b 2 [ Ui o P ) N S BB R {1 4B A 8D
M NEH S BE B S LR E G A (e 8
) EREEREEER D EHEBEEN
BEMBERNEERR -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B A& R R My =T (48)

31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 SiBRREESEEH
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs that are applicable to the Group are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to
disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements. Amendments
to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on
how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has
disclosed the material accounting policy
information in note 2.4 to financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any
items in the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B iRk M= (48)

31 December 2023 —FE - =%#+1+_-HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to
recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these
amendments, the Group applied the initial
recognition exception and did not recognise a
deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences for transactions related to
leases. The Group has applied the amendments
on temporary differences related to leases as at 1
January 2022. Upon initial application of these
amendments, the Group recognised (i) a deferred
tax asset for all deductible temporary differences
associated with lease liabilities (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available), and (ii) a
deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences associated with right-of-use assets at
1 January 2022, with cumulative effect recognised
as an adjustment to the balances of retained
profits and non-controlling interests at that date.
The quantitative impact on the financial
statements is summarised below.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 SiBEREESHESE (&)
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b) (continued) b) (%)
Impact on the consolidated statements of financial HIREUBARNTR 2 & -
position:
Increase/(decrease)
2,/ i)
As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
R-B-=F RZB-_—_F RIZT_—F
+=ZA=+—HB +=ZA=+—H —H—H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFHTT FET
Assets BE
Deferred tax assets (Note) EIERIBE E (KieE) 37 39 79
Total non-current assets ERBDEERE 37 39 79
Total assets BELE 37 39 79
Liabilities i=F
Deferred tax liabilities (Note) — EZERIEE & (M) 9 - 3
Total non-current liabilities FRBaEeE 9 - 3
Total liabilities afERE 9 - 3
Net assets BEFE 28 39 76
Equity R
Retained profits (included in REHEF GEA
reserves) E) 31 38 72
Equity attributable to
owners of the parent BAGIEE AFEERER 31 38 72
Non-controlling interests FERERR R 2 (3) 1 4
Total equity s 28 39 76
Note: The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities arising Mtz : A—KMBATHEESNEEARLER
from lease contracts of the same subsidiary have been offset in EEAERELEHRBRED RSN
the statement of financial position for presentation purposes. KL - LMEZTIBH -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TSR AR B oE (4])

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 SBEREESHESE (&)

DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(b) (continued)

Impact on the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income:

b (%)

HireBERRAMEERER 2
=1

Increase
#hn
For the year ended 31
December
BZ+=-A=+—AH
ILFE
2023 2022
—E-=F —FE-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Income tax credit FTS i % (11) (37)
Loss for the year FEEHE (11) (37)
Attributable to: AT &7 R
Owners of the parent BRREE A (7) (34)
Non-controlling interests JEPERRRE RS (4) (3)
(11) (37)
Total comprehensive FAZHEERRE
loss for the year (11) (37)
Attributable to: AR ITREA
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ Z=PN (7) (34)
Non-controlling interests SEPERR (4) (3)
(11) (37)

The adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 did not
have any material impact on the basic and diluted
loss per share attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent and the consolidated
statements of cash flows for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

The adoption of other new and revised HKFRSs does
not have any material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
BTG R R M EE (5])
31 December 2023 —E—=#+—-H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs 2.3 EEM{ERAKRERNE R MK IR

The Group has not applied the following revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet
effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if applicable,
when they become effective.

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments ") 4

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the 2022
Amendments”)" 4

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025
9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments,

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. So far, the Group considers that these
revised HKFRSs may result in changes in accounting
policies but are unlikely to have a significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HEA

AEEYBENEEVHERREAATE
BB R RERNEET TR BRE
R - NREBEBRNZERET BB

R A AR FE A % RN (AE )

BEMBREENE0R  REZEEBLNT
REBEENR 285 Ea=gyrE i)

MERIA RELEL TR
BEMBRSENE 6%  EREOPHEE
WA AR
BEGHERFE 15 REABERRDL
fEFT A Fng([—F-F
FaT))
BR G EFE 157 e T
EHEN BE(-E-—#
BiTl)
BEGEARTHRR RERREZH
BANHRELAETH
MIERIA
BR G ENF 215 RZ AL
EHEN

! REZZB-WFE—-A—BRZEFIGNFER
A

2 REIB-AF A BRZEFRIRNFER
A

B 58 1 A4 2 5 e SR 78 A2 1B R (R ER AR

¢ EACToREENR-T-CEEINE
2 EBRBESRAHEANZH — EH
AHREIREL RGN EDE R
B TEET - AR ARRR I8 AR — BT
(R

AEBERIEFHVIREREETEEY
BHREEANTE - EEAFBLE - K
SERDZERETBEM B REER
AREEREHRRES  BTAAEY
AEEPHHRRENEATLE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B iRk M= (48)

31 December 2023 —E—-—=4#F+—_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETHER

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, deferred tax assets and
financial assets), the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher
of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.
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g R MEE (8
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B iRk M= (48)

31 December 2023 —E—-—=4#F+—_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE)

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwiill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group;

or
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TS SRR B oE (4D

31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

24 EXRSFTEE(E)

S ()
b) MEZFTATEATEMEEZE
ﬁ% .
(i) ZEBRAEBEAR %8
4=
(il —"REEBAEZ —ZREEESR
—XREREZEAR - BEA
RIS EIRMB AR 2HE N
AEHA B
(i) BEREAEBAR—F=
ZREDE
ivi, " REBERAEF=-FBEZA
BHhE ME—ZRERASE
ZHEBZEENR
v) BEAAESENJHEAEESF
Bz ERAEREREEAM
BN 2 RIRERNEE
(Vi) ZFEEX (a)TBFTHLZ A 12l

(vii)

(viii)

AR

(@B Z AL HE R
BEAFZENIRER (K
BRANZETEEEAR K&

Rl PTE B T EAK
NAAANEE AN EE
AREFEEEASRY °

0 mé

™



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TSR AR B oE (4])

31 December 2023 —E—-—=4#F+—_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
Furniture, fixtures 20% to 33'/:%
and office equipment
Plant and machinery 20% to 33'/:%
Equipment for rental purpose  20%

Motor vehicles 33"/:%
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Computer software and intellectual property
license

Purchased computer software and acquired intellectual
property license are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over
its estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 —E—-—=4#F+—_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Several warehouses, system
integration and service centres,
office properties and car parking
spaces (collectively the
""Properties”’)

1to 5 years
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2023 —E =+ —_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated

useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in
which the event or condition that triggers the

payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and

do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis

over the lease term.
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(Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE)

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets REREMERMEE
Initial recognition and measurement BRERARGE

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade and bills
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade and bills receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

SREENYTEAR DR R RIRE
HRARE  BRAFEFARMBEZEK
@ RIB N ER AR -

SREENTEARNSBRET R
BEANBSRENFTHRAAREEE
REEEMNEHERN - RUBEARE
ROBAEER U EATHABEERNRE
ROFEBREETTENE B RKFR
REWEEIN  AEENFRERTFE
ML IR A FEFABRENERE
E)RGRAFTESREE - W FX K
SER FAEBR UEEABEKD
KAKECHREEAERERNANE
5 W RIA R EREBREBW RS
EAE15REENI HERFE

RESREERBERANLIRAFER
AHfbEEREs BRTE FELEE
BT RAREEAEFE(SPPI)
MIRERE - RERMEIFSPPINERE
EESBREBRATEFABRFAE M
BRI A RS

BFERBRAR / 2023 F 8

105



31 December 2023 —E =+ —_H=+—H

106

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a business
model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets
which are not held within the aforementioned business
models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what
extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to
the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECLs).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 1 year past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption of
default based on reasonable and supportable
information, including the Group's credit risk control
practices and the historical recovery rate of financial
assets over 90 days past due. However, the Group may
also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade and bills receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 —

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 —

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs
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(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach

For trade and bills receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables
and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE)

(Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued) SHEeE(E)
Subsequent measurement BETE

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially different
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the special
identification basis and, in the case of semi-finished
products and finished products, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks and short term deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
profit or loss.
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(Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE)

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed. Government grants
related to income are presented as other income in
profit or loss.
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Revenue recognition e
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHWE

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.
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(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the products.

(b) Provision of maintenance services

Revenue from the provision of maintenance
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE)

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued) Wi e (&)
Revenue from other sources R B H AR A Uz

Equipment rental income is recognised on a time
proportion basis over the lease terms. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or the a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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(Continued)
Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund (the “"MPF") retirement benefit scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Chinese Mainland are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Other employee benefits
Defined benefit plans

The Group’s statutory obligation to pay long service
payment in Hong Kong is a defined benefit plan. The
cost of providing benefits relating to long service
payment is determined using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method. The liability recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position in
respect of long service payment is the net obligation,
representing the present value of the future long
service payment benefits reduced by entitlements from
accrued benefits arising from MPF contributions made
by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE)

(Continued)
Finance costs

Finance costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends and special dividend are recognised as a
liability when they are approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss.

it # AN

PR ARNEEL R EIRSEE -

3=

REB B RFRIBRERBRRRBERAS
EHERERSAR -

AN B B 4B A AR KA K 40 B T
EERNEIRTHRE - AP HREE
REHKMNEEIR - Bt - F#HRER
ERRNEERFERERREE -

SN

BBRTIAR R BN E BT
R ARBETHEEERHABITRE
HYe g% MEBEEENYHRKRA
BEMHEBEORAZNEERE - K
SEET BRAREMNINEZZETIR
EE - RAXSHEEENARGE
BEEEX - LINEFENEBEERA
BERABHREMRNRTERKE - B
HERKREIBREELNERE  HRNBR

BFERBRAR / 2023 F 8

119



31 December 2023 —E =+ —_H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

120

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss is translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE)

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that
the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of certain subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise the
option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the
option to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g.,
construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options (Continued)

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the
lease term for leases of the Properties due to the
significance of these assets to its operations. These
leases have a short non-cancellable period (i.e., one to
five years) and there will be a significant negative effect
on production if a replacement is not readily available.

Withholding taxes arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distribution of
dividends from subsidiaries according to the relevant
tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing
of the payment of the dividends. Management
considered that it is not probable that the Group's
subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland will distribute retained
profits in the foreseeable future, and accordingly no
provision for withholding tax was made. Where the
final outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts originally rewarded, the difference will impact
the deferred tax provision in the period in which the
difference arises.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.
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124

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for certain
deductible temporary differences and unpaid expenses
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits
together with future tax planning strategies. Further
details are contained in note 23 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and
bills receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables based on
assumptions about the risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of the reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and bills receivables and the expected
credit loss allowance in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed. Further details of the trade
and bills receivables are given in note 17 to the financial
statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“"IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The
IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would have to
pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such
as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
made based on the estimated net realisable value of
the inventories. The assessment of the provision
required involves management judgement and
estimates on market conditions. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will have an impact
on the carrying amounts of inventories and the write-
down and reversal of write-down of inventories in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
Further details are given in note 16 to the financial
statements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBESBEH

AREEE BN ERFERAKEERNMR
% BRERGERMRENBAMZE
B MR o BLE IR BC M AR RGGH A )
FEEIREEBRRAZHNER &
TRAKREZEBEERE  IAKE

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
thermal imaging products and services, self-stabilised
imaging products and services and general aviation
products and services. Information reported to the
Group’s chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance MERCEES AV EANBLLE
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the DEBERL o ML WEZIEEDEE
Group as a whole as the Group's resources are o

integrated and no discrete operating segment

information is available. Accordingly, no operating

segment information is presented.

126

Geographical information HEER
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) REIMBEFHWE
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET F&T
Chinese Mainland R A 3B 212,584 206,465
Hong Kong and Macau E8 RORPY 44,761 34,481
Overseas NEZ 6,692 4,666
Total 4=t 264,037 245,612
The revenue information above is based on the a2 BRI TR R E R
locations of the customers. oo
(b) Non-current assets (b) FERBEE
2023 2022
—EC_=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET F&TT
Chinese Mainland ==l Eilvnpi) 5,942 7,080
Hong Kong B 6,359 10,808
Total 4=t 12,301 17,888

The non-current assets information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes
deferred tax assets.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue derived from sales to individual customer
which contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the
Group during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are as follows:

RE s AR (F&)

FREFEH

REBEE_ZE-_=FR_FT_—_F+_A

=t—BLEFE BRASEAKEE

B10% ZEAFTPIHEM SRR T

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Customer A 25 A 67,183 49,111
Customer B =EB 27,173 N/ATEA*

* The corresponding revenue from this customer is not disclosed as the

revenue individually did not account for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue for the respective period.

* AR U & BE T E B A KB U 10%
FHIAL - REZEFNBERET THE
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B TS SRR B oE (4D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. Uz - HtW A R W= F5
NET
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net is Was « H A RKEFEITAT
as follows:
Revenue Yy 325
2023 2022
—EB-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FH&T
Thermal imaging products and services Zpk (& & b M ARTS
— Sales of goods Note ™ — HEEmMER 56,766 67,231
— Rendering of maintenance — REEEIRTE &
services and equipment HiEFREEe
rental Note 8 15,012 9,276
71,778 76,507
Self-stabilised imaging products and B2 E R E M ARFS
services
— Sales of goods Note ™ — EEEMEr 39,674 31,880
— Rendering of maintenance — REEERE K
services and equipment AR EHEE)
rental Note 8) 4,446 19,066
44,120 50,946
General aviation products and services i@ A2 E G MRS
— Sales of goods Note ™ — EEEMEw 145,304 116,274
— Rendering of maintenance — REEBREES
services Nete ® 1,253 1,167
146,557 117,441
Others Hib 1,582 718
Total #aT 264,037 245,612
BHFE(A)

HEBERKE N R HER o

Note @ The revenue from the sale of goods was recognised at a point in time.
MIEEI IR {3t A g RS KR A9 5 TR O U 2 T BB B R
RoBEZFT-=F+-A=+—HLFE
UmEEBEBERA(-T - —F:
612,000 7L) °

Note®: The revenue from the rendering of maintenance services and
equipment rental was recognised over time. No operating lease income
was incurred for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$612,000).
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31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. & - HttWw A R WS F5E (])
NET (Continued)
Performance obligations BHEE
The performance obligation for the sales of goods is HEEMMBYAEARRNTEYRIET
satisfied upon delivery of the goods and the WIELT - MIE A RENEREHEESN
performance obligation for the rendering of FE 40 (T Bl BE 2 4= £ AR 745 i B8 s ] HE 75
maintenance services and equipment rental is satisfied METTMmETT
over time as services are rendered.
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the R+ A=+—BoEEFHEBHEL
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or (RESTMBEITHI D RETMEIT) M
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows: REEEIAT :
2023 2022
—E-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Amounts expected to be recognised FEEIS R AWM SEE ¢
as revenue:
Within one year —F R 7,569 7,235
After one year — &% 9,007 11,176
Total @t 16,576 18,411

For contracts of the sale of goods with original
expected duration of less than one year, the Group has
elected not to disclose information about the remaining
performance obligations. All considerations from
contracts with customers with original expected
duration of not less than one year have been included
in the transaction prices and, therefore, were included
in the information disclosed in the above table.

RRVERFESHION —FOHES
mAENMNE  AEECEETHESH
MBBEORENEN - KRB HE
BRI R—FNEFAOMRHAE
REEESERZERT  AUHTEE
ERERBEENEEF -

HEERERAT / 2023 F 3k
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. W&  HW AR W= FEE (E)
NET (Continued)

Other income and gains, net HA g A R W25 F R

2023 2022

—FE=-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TET T

Bank interest income HRITH BN 4,279 345

Government grants* ERAT B * 269 885

Reversal of doubtful receivables, net & U 3k 18 R Bk 8 B ' H 58 = 502

Others EHAmh 355 570

Total BET 4,903 2,302
B Government grants mainly represented subsidies obtained from local * T 6 B = 22 48 B 75 B BE P BUAS B9 4
government authorities. There are no unfulfilled conditions or Bh o 3R BN MR ERK (RS AREIE o

contingencies relating to these grants.
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Bt 7 3 3R B = (48

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

6.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

BRBL AT B 18

AEBOKRBATEBETEMER, (G A)

(crediting): AR & IB1&ZE R -
2023 2022
—EC=F —=E-—
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B aE FET FHTT
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA 173,646 160,085
Cost of services provided RHARFS A AR 8,962 12,798
Depreciation of property, Y% - B REETE
plant and equipment 13 1,817 2,382
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {# A#EEETE 14(a) 7,137 6,939
Amortisation of intangible assets  #JZ& zE # 4 15 338 523
Research and development costs A Z£AK AN 10,672 8,732
Provision for/(reversal of) doubtful &g F I8 RER B,
receivables, net (#m]) 558 11,879 (502)
Written-off of trade receivables B E 5 e Y GkIA 17 810 3,413
Provision for/(reversal of) PREFERE (D)
inventory obsolescence, net FEE 16 291 (405)
Lease payments not included in T ARE &S
the measurement of lease M E K
liabilities 14(c) - 96
Employee benefit expense EERAIFAY
(excluding directors’ and (TEEEEK
chief executive officer’s 1T IR 48 5 37
remuneration (note 8)): (PfF5ES)) -
Wages and salaries TERF® 43,051 41,117
Pension scheme contributions BINEETEIER
(defined contribution (EREHEFKEE) *
scheme)* 6,450 6,177
Total et 49,501 47,294
Auditor’'s remuneration 1% S5 Al 257 T 1,280 1,280
Foreign exchange differences, ME 5, R RE **
net** 4,947 10,470
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE  BEK
property, plant and equipment RETEE EE 136 =
Bank interest income RITFBUA 5 (4,279) (345)

* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

* %

The foreign exchange differences, net is included in “Other expenses”

(2022: "Other expenses”) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

* %

BER R KA HASE (ERET) AR
HRZB B TR -

[ ERF A A GRS B R 2 mE RS

KPP EMAL] (ZZ2ZZF : [HtA
1)

HEERERAT / 2023 F 3k
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B TS SRR B oE (4D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BB
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: ISR ASITAT ¢
2023 2022
—EB=F —F——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 576 525
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 8. EBRITBAITM

OFFICER'S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer's remuneration
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules"), section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

REFEMEXZMARRA(HR
Pl ERBSF ERARBA EmARD -
EE QA EHI%383(1)(@) * (b)  (c) K (f)
AR AR (WBEEENmER) RPIE
2EWBHFNEFE RITRAEF BN
T

2023 2022
—E_= —EF_—

HK$°000 HK$'000

F&T FHET

Fees we 378 378
Salaries, allowances and e R REMER

benefits in kind 6,819 5,977

Performance related bonuses FIRARREEAT 880 820

Pension scheme contributions RIRE 8T 18 18

Total fees and other emoluments wWEREMENS A 8,095 7,193
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B TSR AR B oE (4])

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a)

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive

EERTHRARTH (&)

(a) BIAFHITES

FAMBILFRTEEXNNES

directors during the year were as follows: o

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T4
Mr. NIU Zhongjie HEEEAE 126 126
Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen Il an 126 126
Mr. HOU Min EIRGE 126 126
Total st 378 378

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the
year (2022: Nil).

FABEEMENBLIFNTES

M (ZT=—F : &) o

FHEERER AT / 2023 F 3K
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P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 8. EERTHAREM(E)
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) BTEERITHAR
officer
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
2023 in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e 2ER *EHE Bike
—EC=F ENER AL AN b Pk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TET
. ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________}
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching Bk 2,443 340 - 2,783
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik* FRNLL* 2,745 320 - 3,065
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai RS 1,631 220 18 1,869
Total 4=t 6,819 880 18 1,717
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
2022 in kind bonuses  contributions remuneration
e ERR FKHIEAE RIS
—E-CF EYEH Al HEGS S a0 ks
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TEx TAET AT
. ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching BhELE 2,326 320 - 2,646
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik* FHEHZL* 2,227 300 - 2,527
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai HIRR I AE 1,424 200 18 1,642
Total HE 5,977 820 18 6,815
& Ms. WONG Kwan Lik is also the chief executive officer of the & TFENLZETNBERRITEEE -
Company.
There was no arrangement under which a director RER  BEEBEENESRE
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration WEERFM T (= —F
during the year (2022: Nil). &)
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the REAR - AEBEVWERES S FH
Group to the directors as an inducement to join or BE R INAREE S IMALREEE
upon joining the Group or as compensation for BB S ERBERENME(ZE
loss of office (2022: Nil). —TF | o
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31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year
included three directors (2022: three directors), details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 to the
financial statements. Details of the remuneration for
the year of the remaining two (2022: two) highest paid
employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive officer of the Company are as follows:

TEEREHES

FANMEERFREEE=-REZ(Z
T__F: =ZREF) AFMHFRER
MEHERMES FAKRTMA(ZZ
T oF  MB)AFARREETHITRAE
BHHZRSHEBNFMFBIT

2023 2022
—EB-=F - =S

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT

Salaries, allowances and e EREYWER
benefits in kind 3,810 2,253
Performance related bonuses %Iﬁjﬁ RATEAT 353 270
Pension scheme contributions RIS EIHE R 18 21
Total HRET 4,181 2,544

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
officer highest paid employees whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

SIANATHMAR R EERE RIFHHT
BABZE=REFEEHENT

Number of employees

EEHE
2023 2022
—E-= —=E-—
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & 7 = 1,500,000 78 7T 1 2
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T 2 3,000,000 /8 7T 1 -
Total 1@t 2 2

FHEERER AT / 2023 F 3K
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INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in
which subsidiaries of the Group are domiciled and
operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman lIslands, the Company is not subject to any
income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group, which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2022:HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2022:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed
at 16.5% (2022:16.5%).

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the
respective regulations, corporate income tax has been
provided at the rate of 25% (2022: 25%) on the taxable
income of the subsidiaries operating in Chinese
Mainland during the year, except for certain
subsidiaries of the Group, which are qualified small and
micro-sized enterprises under preferential tax
treatment. Pursuant to the preferential tax policy, the
first RMB1,000,000 of taxable income and the
remaining part within RMB 1,000,000 to RMB3,000,000
shall be calculated at 25% and 25% (2022: 12.5% and
25% respectively) of taxable income, respectively, with
a reduced tax rate of 20%.
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BIEEMAR R G EMAERDEERE LK
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BARAE 20000008 (= —4F:
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16.5%) °

BEFBETSREEREERG - A
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31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. FRSH (&)
2023 2022
—EB-=fF —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(F&&E75)
Current ENEA 2,562 2,396
Deferred (note 23) BIE (95 23) (3,332) (4,018)
Total tax credit for the year FATIBE R BT (770) (1,622)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss BARE RERED M B A R ML
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in FrE el =@ 2 AR E T E R BRI
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries BrzERARERGBEERHETE 2
are domiciled to the tax credit at the effective tax rates, WA R 2 HER - LRERHE (AVEE
and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the TR) BB R 2 HARAT
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as
follows:
2023 2022
—E_=E - S
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
TR THT
(Restated) (Restated)
(gz51)  (BE5)
Loss before tax BEAEE (4,366) (5,267)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%  ETEH L 16.5% &2 H1E (720) 16.5 (869) 16.5
Effect on different taxation rate in Ao E AR R NF v 5 2
Chinese Mainland (1,837) 421 (1,174) 22.3
Lower tax rates enacted by local S R R Y BUE B R
tax authorities (373) 85 (309) 5.9
Income not subject to tax BAEZHA (455) 10.4 (150) 2.8
Expenses not deductible for tax TAHF X H 264 (6.1) 880 (16.7)
Tax losses not recognised BENEY Y 2,351 (53.8) - -
Total tax credit for the year ERHIER AT (770) 17.6 (1,622) 30.8
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31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

11

12.

. DIVIDENDS 11. BE
2023 2022
—EB-=F =

HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FHT

Proposed final — HK1.35 cents (2022: &R EA — AL @A 1.35 781l
HK1.35 cents) per ordinary share —T— — 4 1.358(l) 5,400 5,400

Proposed special — HK1.35 cents R — SARE AR .35
(2022: Nil) per ordinary share TE ) 5,400 =
10,800 5,400

The proposed final dividend for the year and special
dividend are subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

12.

The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is
based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 400,000,000 (2022:
400,000,000) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are
based on:

REFZFZRBBRE RIEFRIRE AR
NEBRNEERRBFE NS HER
T AIMEE °

N,

BRAAEEESRAARGEER
B8

FREABEDEANT QR L BEERES
EAEEFABERFANES BT
400,000,000f%( = = - F:
400,000,000 %) 3 18 I% &9 0 - 35 1% 25
FTE o

AEBREHE T _=Fh_T_—
T+ A=+ HULEFEUEDEITHNE
EESE LA -

/~F B8

BRERNREEBEEIDENRNATIEBG
=

Loss 2023 2022
SEi] —ZE_-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T T
(Restated)
(f &%)
Loss attributable to ordinary equity STESFRREAR R EEEE
holders of the parent, used in the FTAME AR E B
basic and diluted loss per share =B AERER
calculations (3,263) (3,229)
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31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

13.

12.
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT (Continued)

B8 (&)

BRAREERERAARGER

Shares Number of shares
4l G &E
2023 2022
=== —F-—
"000 "000
F T %
Weighted average number of STEERERREEEE
ordinary shares used in the basic FiT PR B 3 A% hn g
and diluted loss per share T B8R
calculations 400,000 400,000
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERKE
Furniture,
fixtures Equipment
Leasehold  andoffice  Plantand for rental Motor
Buildings improvements equipment  machinery purpose vehicles Total
BE KB #ER A
EF NEEE BLERE  BEREE  BERE RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TiEn T TiEn TiEn TiEn
. __________________________________________________________________________________________________________|
31 December 2023 “E-CE+-f=t-H
Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2023 R=F-=%#-f-H 7,945 2,873 2,545 3,691 7,563 1,286 25,903
Additions NE - - 101 387 - 510 998
Disposal HE = (9) (9) (1) (5,986) (241) (6,246)
Exchange realignment ERAE (170) (37) (46) (108) (178) (7 (546)
At 31 December 2023 RZBEZ=£+-A=1-H 1,175 2,827 2,591 3,969 1,399 1548 20,109
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHTE -
At 1 January 2023 RZE-=#-F-H 2,979 1,920 2,289 3418 6,987 622 18,215
Provided during the year FREE 331 466 118 178 281 443 1817
Disposal HeE - (9) (9) (1) (5,845) (241) (6,105)
Exchange realignment XA (87) (37) (43) (98) (164) (5) (434)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=F+-fA=t-H 3,223 2,340 2,355 3,497 1,259 819 13,493
Net book value: BREFE
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=F+-fA=1-H 4,552 487 236 472 140 729 6,616
wrerERAT /20238 139
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

13. ¥% - BEKR&RE (&)

(Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures Equipment
Leasehold  and office Plant and for rental Motor
Buildings  improvements  equipment  machinery purpose vehicles Total
HE KB RER FAfE
BT NEEE BOERE  HEREE  REEE nE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT TAT AL TAT THT
31 December 2022 —E-_E+-B=t-H
Cost: KA
At 1 January 2022 W-E--#-F-H 6,438 2,707 2615 3,935 8191 1,591 25477
Additions RE 2,000 213 61 60 - - 2,3%
Disposal e = = = - - (285) (285
Exchange realignment R AR (493) (107) (131) (304) (628) (20) (1,683)
At 31 December 2022 RZZ-—F+-fA=t-H 7,945 2813 2,545 3,691 7,563 1,286 25,903
Accumulated depreciation: 2:E
At 1 January 2022 W-E--f#-f-H 2,897 1,518 2,203 3,512 6,721 548 17,39
Provided during the year FikE 313 502 202 181 806 378 2,382
Disposal it = = = - - (285) (285)
Exchange realignment ER AR (231) (100) (116) (279) (540) (19) (1,281)
At 31 December 2022 RZZ-—F+-A=t-H 2979 1,920 2,289 3418 6,987 622 18,215
Net book value: RHFE:
At 31 December 2022 RZE--F+-A=1-H 4,966 953 256 273 576 664 7,688
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31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for the Properties with
lease terms of 1 to 5 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use

14. HE
AEEEREBEA
AEEREEZSYENTEELY  BE
HiIfR 51 E6F - —RM = - AEETE
EREBEUINEERERAEEE -
(a) FEHEEESE

FRAAKEEBREEENREER

assets and the movements during the year are as FEIERAT -
follows:
Properties
ZEYE
HK$'000
FH&T
As at 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-_—_F—HF—H 5,070
Additions NE 11,402
Depreciation charge WES (6,939)
Modification (ES (67)
Exchange realignment FE H, % (149)
As at 31 December 2022 and RZEBE-_—_FE+-_A=1+—H8BxK
1 January 2023 —E-=F—HF—H 9,317
Additions NE 3,088
Depreciation charge TESE (7,137)
Modification &% (43)
Exchange realignment FE 3 s (78)
As at 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+=-A=+—H 5,147

HEERERAT / 2023 F 3k
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31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

14. LEASES (Continued) 14.

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

HE (&)
REBEER[FERAA ()
(b) HEEE

ENEE S EHEDEREHER
W -

2023 2022
—E_= —EFE-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Carrying amount at 1 January N—A—AHERE 9,524 5,514

New leases HEE 3,088 11,402
Accretion of interest recognised F TR A FILEIE AN

during the year 576 525

Modification &3] (43) (67)

Payments (NN (7,798) (7,696)

Exchange realignment FE H, & (78) (154)

Carrying amount at 31 December ®+=A=+—HMEHEE 5,269 9,524

Analysed into: DR
Current portion BIHAES 5 4,211 5,142
Non-current portion FERNERE > 1,058 4,382

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 32 to the financial statements.
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31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

14. LEASES (Continued) 14. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEREBEA (B)
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) HEEZTEREHEFBEN SN
to leases are as follows: ™
2023 2022
—=E_= —=E_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFE 576 525
Depreciation charge of FREEETESR
right-of-use assets 7,137 6,939
Expense relating to ERARBHEENRS:
short-term leases - 96
Total amount recognised in EETPRERNARE
profit or loss 7,713 7,560
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in (d) MEMIRE R BEEE TS HREN
note 26 (c) to the financial statements. FE26(c) FHEE ©
The Group as a lessor KEBEREHBEA
The Group did not lease its equipment (note 13) (2022: REBWEBBELELSHETH LA ESE
five equipment) for rental purpose under operating #(MEE13) (ZBE=—F : AEHRE) -
lease arrangements. No rental income is recognised by AEBTERFARIBESWA(ZE
the Group during the year (2022: HK$612,000), details =4 :612,000/7T)  FEIRERN IS
of which are included in note 5 to the financial WFRMIFES o
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B EE
Intellectual
Computer property
software license Total
I
E ERERT o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TExT FET FET
31 December 2023 —E-=F
+—-—H=+—AH
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of R=—Z=—=4%
accumulated amortisation — A — B/
HIBR R FTEE 55 290 593 883
Amortisation provided FNEHERE
during the year (158) (180) (338)
Exchange realignment b 5 R (7) - (7)
At 31 December 2023 R-EB =%
= =—1[8 125 413 538
At 31 December 2023: R-TE—=4%
+=-—A=+—8":
Cost (D% 1,500 900 2,400
Accumulated amortisation g (1,375) (487) (1,862)
Net carrying amount EREDFE 125 413 538
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = (48

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 15. |MLEE (&)
Intellectual
Computer property
software license Total
HE
B ER EEREFTA] MBEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHET FH&TT
31 December 2022 —EC-CF
+t=A=t+-R
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of RZZT=-—
accumulated amortisation — A —BHIA
Bk 2 51 85 318 773 1,088
Additions NE 342 - 342
Amortisation provided FE A
during the year (343) (180) (523)
Exchange realignment b 3 A= (24) - (24)
At 31 December 2022 N-E—_—
+=-—HA=+—H 290 593 883
At 31 December 2022: R-ZEBE-_—F
+=ZA=+—8":
Cost 2% 1,544 900 2,444
Accumulated amortisation e (1,254) (307) (1,561)
Net carrying amount BREDFE 290 593 883
16. INVENTORIES 16. &
2023 2022
—=Z== - =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FH&TT
Components and consumables B ROBRE MR 667 762
Semi-finished products E 7,313 7,565
Finished products RIEY T 65,698 46,790
73,678 55,117
Less: Provision B B (2,455) (2,179)
Total 5t 71,223 52,938
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the BHE-Z-_=F1+-A=+—HILHF
provision for inventory obsolescence, net recognised at B REERAEHRNREFERETF
cost of sales amounted to HK$291,000 (2022: the FAR291,0008T(ZE2F : IRHE
reversal of inventory obsolescence, net recognised at PR AN R [5R 5 {7 B H [B1)% 58 /& 405,000
cost of sales amounted to HK$405,000). HIT) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 17. EZEWFEREKRE
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&TT

Trade receivables 2 5 e EIE 69,747 66,125
Bills receivable e E g 2,104 11,245
71,851 77,370

Impairment RE (14,146) (2,272)
Total 5t 57,705 75,098
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are AREBHEEFNESERETEAREZE
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where HEHMEFRIN TIRPE—REFRELN
payment in advance is normally required. The credit R EEHBER—ZE=EH - 8%
period is generally one to three months. Each customer FPHREERSEERE - KEBEREREE
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to mEIEREEREWGE  WREEEE
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables IHRRAZRSREEERE - BHEH
and has a credit control policy to minimise credit risk. HEREEABTEHRN - 85BN

Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior BNEWEZE AR -

management. Trade and bills receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as RIpEHRIZEZHRHYTNE SRR
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice FIE R EWEB KRR ST T (FOBR S
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: BEHE) -
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Less than 3 months DR=1EA 24,310 27,093
3 to 6 months =ZNEA 1,574 2,183
6 to 12 months NETZ{EA 3,448 3,056
Over 1 year —E A E 28,373 42,766
Total FEE 57,705 75,098
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = (48

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 17. ESRWFIEREREE (&)

(Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of trade and bills receivables are as follows:

.5 B3O8 T R L 1
BORBERT ¢

2023 2022
—E2=-= —E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT
At beginning of year REH] 2,272 2,786
Provision for doubtful receivables, FEUS FRIE R BR B
net SHEE 12,689 2,911
Amount written-off as B E S5
uncollectible (note 6) (FFzE6) (810) (3,413)
Exchange realignment BE 5 R (5) (12)
At end of year RER 14,146 2,272

An impairment analysis of trade and bills receivables is
performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions. Generally, trade and bills
receivables are written off if past due for more than
three years and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Impairment provision amounting to HK$12,477,000
were provided for trade and bills receivables from
certain customers at the end of the reporting period
after taking into account of the financial position of
these customers.

RERSAHNORBBREEELETES
FEW IR K BRI R B E DT - PAGT
EFRMEEBE  BEXHENRESR
BUBBERANZERTF D EETHD
MBI B E - Rt ERBREIAER
MEER  EREEMAREBBARSF
MBRBESIE - B AR RORRAEH
GHEBRANEERAAEERM  —KRM
5 WAMBEE=FAYEX DR HH
TR - AIE 5 RBUERE R BN EE
T UAMIEH o

REER - &2 BERE P /B Ak
W& BRETENEENE S EKE
T8 N W =R T H R B #E 155 12,477,000
BT °

HEERERAT / 2023 F 3k
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TS SRR B oE (4D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

Except for the trade receivables from certain customers
mentioned above, the remaining trade and bills
receivables are related to a lot of diversified customers
and set out below is the information about the credit
risk exposure on the Group's remaining trade and bills
receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

17. EZEWFEREWREE (&)

B EatE TENEFPOE S EKKIA
Sh - BB E S BRAREEREEX
EZTCEFPEH  UTAAEERA
BREEEENTGE S EKKIAENIE
WREZ EERBRMAOEZE :

R-ZE-_=%+=-HA=+—H

Pastdue  Past due
more than more than
Pastdue 1yearbut 2yearsbut Pastdue
within within within over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
ral:t —&{ WA BEEA
B PR-F PRME PR=E =F @t
ECLs rate BHEEEER 0%-1.0% 2.5% 8.0% 33.3% 100.0%  0%-3.7%
Gross carrying amount ERAE(TET)

(HK$'000) 37,109 7,057 985 1,037 709 46,897
ECLs (HK$'000) BEEEEER(THEL) 360 176 79 345 709 1,669
As at 31 December 2022 R-E=—=—F+=—H=+—H

Pastdue  Pastdue
more than ~ more than
Pastdue 1yearbut 2yearsbut  Pastdue
within within within over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
ekt —&{ (R BHEER
A E PR—F PRME PRZEF =F @5
ECLs rate HHEEEEX 0%-0.5% 3.1% 6.8% 33.3% 100.0%  0%-3.4%
Gross carrying amount ERAE(TET)

(HK$'000) 63,018 6,624 4,479 2,616 633 77,370

ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEBE(THET) 258 205 305 871 633 2,272
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TSR AR B oE (4])

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES

18. AR - RERHMEWFKIR

2023 2022

—E== —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FH&T
Prepayments R RIE 8,143 15,493
Deposits and other receivables B4 K HE bR R TE 5,602 6,490
Total HRET 13,745 21,983

The above balances are unsecured and interest-free.

The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there were no recent
history of default and past due amounts. As at 31
December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.

b aEERARE

LAl BN e RmEEMTERE
EHRS RO SENEKRZIBER -
R_EBE_=ZFR_F-_—_F+_-A
=t+—H  EEREETEARK -

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19. BERBREEEY

2023 2022

—EB-=F —=E_—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTEEH 92,446 199,969
Time deposits TEHRF R 150,896 44,629
Cash and cash equivalents HERESZEEY 243,342 244 598

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted
to HK$64,638,000 (2022: HK$81,463,000). The RMB is
not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Regulations of the PRC on Foreign Exchange
Administration and Regulations on the Administration
of Settlement, Sales and Payments of Foreign
Exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

RBEIR  REFEUARBHEZE
& MR 1T &5 564,638,000 T (=&
— —4F :81,463,000/87T) © AREEA]
BRLBREMER - A BRIE(REA
REMBINEE BIGH)D REE - EE
MATEEERT)  ALBE A B BERE
HEITHMNE ZEIEMIRITIE AR M H

FHEERER AT / 2023 F 3K
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

19

20.

21.

. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits earn
interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

19. RERBASEEY (F)

RITREBEBETBRITERRZFEHF
ERBAE - EHREMERREENE
HATE AR R BRI B o SRITAE SR T7 DR
AT B0 8 K RO ERAO AT SEERTT ©

20. ESENRIE

RBEMRIREZBIMINTNE HEN
AR BRI DTN

2023 2022

—EC=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TF&TT
Within 1 month PHR—EA 1,815 6,894
1 to 3 months —Z==1@A 2,695 1,005
Over 3 months =@EAMNE 12,502 12,860
Total At 17,012 20,759

The trade payables are interest-free and are normally
settled ranging from 30 to 90 days.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B REMNFIBN BB EAENER30
£90H °

21. BEttENRERESTEA
2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FETT
Other payables HoAth i < 3K0R 4,958 7,239
Accruals fE:tE A 13,977 10,011
Total 1=t 18,935 17,250

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within one year.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TSR AR B oE (4])

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22.
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the
advance payments made by customers while the

underlying goods or services are yet to be provided.

Changes in the contract liabilities during the years

BHEE

AEENENEBEIZRNEPBMNRK
TR - 7T AR B A S AR TS iR R ER AL o

REBEE_ZE_=ZFR_"FT_—F+_A

ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows: =T —HLEFEMNEGHNEELHTFHN
T
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
At beginning of year REH) 15,460 14,754
Revenue recognised that was REATAGNAELER
included in the contract liabilities B2 AER U ES
balance at beginning of year (14,249) (13,975)
Increases due to cash received, EEYERSmILm - FeEER
excluding amounts recognised as FAE R AR EE
revenue during the year 19,110 14,681
At end of year RER 20,321 15,460
HEERERADTE /2023 F1
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX 23. EEBIH

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets FREHIBEEREERFTAMEENT

during the year are as follows:

152

Deferred tax liabilities

2023

EEHIREE
—E-=

Depreciation
allowance in

excess of
Right-of-use related
assets depreciation Total
HBERETE
EREEE ZITERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET F#ET FET
At 31 December 2022 A=
+=—A=+—8H - 76 76
Effect of adoption of R EEest £
amendments to B12FIBFI R 2 2
HKAS 12 (note 2.2(b)) (FfFzE2.2(0)) 1,777 - 1,777
At 1 January 2023 RZZE—_=F—H—H
(restated) (&e=51) 1,777 76 1,853
Deferred tax credited to HAERNBR ZELERIE
profit or loss during (M¥zE10)
the year (note 10) (710) (20) (730)
Exchange realignment P 3 3 (20) - (20)
At 31 December 2023 NRZTE-=%F
+=—A=+—8H 1,047 56 1,103
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = (48

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23. EAEIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) FEEBEE E (])
2022 —E-C=F

Depreciation
allowance in

excess of
Right-of-use related
assets  depreciation Total
HiEIERE T E
ERAEEE ZITERE 5T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FH&T
At 31 December 2021 R-ZEBE-—F
+=—A=+—H = 119 119
Effect of adoption of BRANE ST %E8]

amendments to ERVE ATV v -7

HKAS 12 (note 2.2(b)) (FizE2.2(b)) 950 - 950
At 1 January 2022 RZZTEZ=F—HF—H

(restated) (&) 950 119 1,069
Deferred tax charged/ B,/ (Gt A) EREz

(credited) to profit or ZIEERIR (L ET)

loss during the year (PfFEE10)

(restated) (note 10) 864 (43) 821
Exchange realignment bE H AR (37) - (37)
At 31 December 2022 A=

(restated) +=-—B=+—~H

(KREFI|) 1,777 76 1,853
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
P ELNELE D

31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

23. EEBE (&)

Deferred tax assets ELEBREE
2023 —EC-=F
Provision for
inventories Losses
and trade available for
receivables offsetting
and against
written-off future
Lease oftrade  Unrealised taxable
liabilities  receivables profit profits Total
FERES
EWRERE AR
NREHH RRERK
HEERE ERELEE  AZRER  BA«EE &zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AR AR TEn AR TAn
At 31 December 2022 RZZ-—&+-A=1-H - 597 1,638 5,039 1214
Effect of adoption of amendments HAEASTEAE 128 EA
to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(b)) 22 (HzE2200) 1,816 - - - 1,816
At 1 January 2023 (restated) RZEZ=F-A—-H(&E3) 1816 597 1638 5,039 9,090
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to (MkE)/AAFREEL
profit or loss during the year BREFE (W 10)
(note 10) (721) 2,984 (109) 448 2,602
Exchange realignment BN A% (20) (6) - (130) (156)
At 31 December 2023 RZZ-=F+-A=1-H 1,075 3,575 1529 5,357 11,536
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = (48

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23. EREHIE (&)
Deferred tax assets (Continued) EERIEEE (M)
2022 —EBCF
Provision for
inventories Losses
and trade available for
receivables offsetting
and against
written-off future
Lease of trade  Unrealised taxable
liabilities  receivables profit profits Total
FERES
Rl as AR
AR EHiSE RRERS
HERE BIEUKZE AERER B BB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
At 31 December 2021 RZE--5+-R=1-H - 1,374 2,068 - 3,442
Effect of adoption of amendments ~ FME A& EEIE 125

to HKAS 12 (note 2.2(b)) BT 52 (i 2.2(0) 1,026 - - - 1,026
At 1 January 2022 (restated) RZBZ—F—fA—H(LEF) 1,026 1,374 2,068 - 4,468
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to (B E)/FAFRER 2

profit or loss during the year BRI (8 35)) (HzE10)

(restated) (note 10) 827 (732) (430) 5174 4,839
Exchange realignment AT (37) (45) - (135) (217)
At 31 December 2022 (restated) R-E-—F+-p=1t-H

(&E75) 1,816 597 1,638 5,039 9,090
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B TS SRR B oE (4D

31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Deferred tax assets (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes:

23. EREHIE (E)
EERIEEE (&)
RS ETREEHMEEERARE

ERMBARKEE - TREIAEE
BT IBAERO T AEI B RE 2 -

2023 2022
—E-=F —_F_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
(Restated)
(Fe&E5)
Net deferred tax assets recognised — FA4R4 B4R N = 28
in the consolidated statement of BRI EEFE
financial position 10,498 7,313
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised R 4ra B F&HA R 25 MR
in the consolidated statement of LTS EFE
financial position (65) (76)
Total mst 10,433 7,237

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% (or a lower rate if there is a tax treaty between
Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors) withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Chinese
Mainland. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Chinese Mainland in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = (48

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23. EEHIE (&)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings that are subject to
withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion of the
directors, the Group's earnings will be retained in
Chinese Mainland, so it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2023, the
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland
was approximately HK$855,000 (2022: HK$1,600,000).

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of tax losses of HK$39,516,000 (2022:
HK$30,080,000) as at 31 December 2023 as they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

ELERAEEE (&)

R-EBE-_=F+-_A=+—H K&£H
WARFEA R E AL B AR TEIEL
ZHIB AR ZRERBFENZ BN
HRELEME -EERA AEEZA
M RBAPEAM - WZEHE AT
KAl TR ARG T ARE D IKZE&F] o
R_BE-_=ZF+-_A=+—H - &
EhBEANMHBAREENBRREEZE
4 E84) /8650008 L (=Z T = —F:
1,600,000/ 7T) °

R-ZE_=F+_A=+—H "  WEs
FiIA 839,616,000 L (&~ —
30,080,000/ 7T ) M RiRIE IR & B -
EXEEHBEEEZHBARE 2EE
—BRHE - WRATANA LD E £ ER
Fim A AR S AT B R 2 FRIB B 1R o

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. B
2023 2022
—EC=F —EFE-—
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&T FAT
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
400,000,000 (2022: 400,000,000) 400,000,000 (= F ==
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 400,000,000 f%) TR E{E

0.01 Ay EmAX 4,000 4,000

BEnRAERAR /2023 1D/



31 December 2023 —E =+ —_H=+—H

25. RESERVES

158

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

Other reserve

The balance represented the aggregate paid-in capital
of the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment costs
in subsidiaries of the Company during the
reorganisation of the Company in connection with the
listing of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange.

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the
Chinese Mainland, the Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC shall appropriate a certain
percentage of their net profit after tax (after offsetting
any prior years' losses) calculated under the accounting
principles generally applicable to the Chinese Mainland
enterprises to the reserve fund. When the balance of
this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital,
any further appropriation is optional. The statutory
surplus reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’
losses or to increase capital. However, the balance of
the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a
minimum of 256% of the capital after these usages.
After making the appropriation to the statutory surplus
reserve, the Company’s subsidiaries may also
appropriate their profits for the year to the discretionary
surplus reserve upon approval by the board of directors
or the shareholders in a general meeting.
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5. f#fE

AEERANFERBEFEZHBEEER
RESHNUBRRTOGEEERE
REF

Hftufd e

% AERRR P U RE Y B 2 Rl BUR B A 4
B WARBMAR RO L
METEARERRAMBERRANKRE
XA SH

EEBSRHEE

BIERBRAARERE AR NP E
FE R A D R B B A B 78 15 Bk i 14 45 )
(EHEEMAEFEBE)NETE D LE
ZHFHEE: 2BERBERRANMEE—
BERSRAE - EZHHESLE
HEEE R E RN L0% K - A[EE i
ER R EAb BE R o SKTE B R AT A
EIEEAEFEIBSIEMMER o AW » )&
FEKBENEHVEEENZERS
BEIRHZE L 25% o ¥EATF RSB EIE
HERE  ARFWNBRARKESTS N
BREREERAS FHER A BHEER
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = (48

31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$3,088,000 (2022: HK$11,402,000) and
HK$3,088,000 (2022: HK$11,402,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for

the Properties.

26. RERSREBRME

(a) EEBHFREXS

FN - AEBERZEMERELH
MEAREERHEAENIERS
= 5 Bl 43,088,000 L ( — =
— — % :11,402,0008 T ) &
3,088,000/ ;w( = & = =
11,402,000787T) °

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEEBHELANERESE:
activities:
2023 —B-=F
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
HK$' 000
FHET
At 1 January 2023 R-ZTE-_=%—F—H 9,624
New leases e 3,088
Lease modification HEBE] (43)
Foreign exchange movement 4N (78)
Interest expense MERZ 576
Interest expense classified as NERKERSMEN
operating cash flows A BRI (576)
Changes from financing cash flows HERS e (7,222)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-_HA=+—H 5,269

HEERERAT / 2023 F 3k
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31 December 2023 —FE - =%+ _-HA=+—H

26. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 26. EBRERERMET (H)
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BETHEENEESE . (&)
activities: (Continued)
2022 —E:-C
Lease
liabilities
HEBE
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZTE-_—_F—HF—H 5,514
New leases HHEE 11,402
Lease modification MEBRT (67)
Foreign exchange movement YN (154)
Interest expense R EF X 525
Interest expense classified as DEAKERESRERN
operating cash flows FERAXZ (525)
Changes from financing cash flows MERESREH (7,171)
At 31 December 2022 RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 9,624
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEMRSRLAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the meERenERTEENHEER S
consolidated statement of cash flows is as ML ABEET -
follows:
2023 2022
—EC=F —_EFE-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Within operating activities KRB EE N 576 621
Within financing activities MEEHEEA 7,222 7,171
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27. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 27. EEERKH
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not pledge any R-E-_=F+-_F=+—H Kx&£H
assets (31 December 2022: Nil). WEEHREMNEE(ZSE__F+=-A
=+—H:8&)-
28. COMMITMENTS 28. FEIE
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any R-E-_=F+-F=+—H K&£E
significant commitments. 7 A AE ] B KA o
29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29. BHARS
(a) The Group had the following transactions (a) AEERFREERBE S ETHU
with related parties during the year: X5 :
2023 2022
—E-= B F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
iz FET FH&T
Rental fee paid to directors MREEXNHBEEH (i) - 209
Rental fee paid to a company [[A—f2AF (A2 FRE
of which two directors of EEAHEERBRR) I M
the Company are NHEZER
controlling shareholders (if) - 96
Acquisition of right-of-use I AREE E
assets (iii) 1,664 5,971
Notes: =3
(i) Certain subsidiaries in Chinese Mainland rented commercial (i) FREAETHBRARIRAAR—H
units from one director of the Company as offices and the EEHEREENIEANRE  BE
transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms in R 5 TR IR R T & 17 (R RGETT ©
the relevant lease agreements. These are continuing connected RIBEEMHRAE14AE - ZERFE
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. RERS o
(ii) The transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms (ii) R 5 TR EAR AT & 15k IR T o
in the relevant lease agreements. These are continuing BIEBELMRAUNEIAE  ZEEBFE
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. FRER S °
(i) The acquisition of right-of-use assets were conducted in (iii) I BEF A E TR B AR A E
accordance with the terms in the relevant lease agreements. 1EFGETT o RIBEEMRBIE 14AF -
These are continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A ZEARBEERELS
of the Listing Rules.
(b) Compensation of key management (b) XEBXTEZSEASZHE :

personnel of the Group:

Details of the compensation of key management
personnel of the Group, who are the directors, are
disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

AEETEEEAB(HFRER)Z
FNF BRI MR ESWE -
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31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

31.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all financial assets
of the Group including trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents were
stated at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, all financial
liabilities of the Group including trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
lease liabilities were stated at amortised cost.

The Group’s classification of its financial assets and
liabilities is explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, management has
assessed that the fair values of trade and bills
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade payables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals and lease liabilities
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's financial controller is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. At each
reporting date, the financial controller analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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RZEZ=FRk=ZT-__F+=A
=+—H8 AEEMESRAE B
B ST FRIA - 5T A A FOE K E
ArEAMNeRAaEREERBEHIREH
AR o

AEEHHEREERABD ENREE
N HREMEE2.4 -
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RZEBEZ=FRK=_ZT=-__F+=A
=+—H BEELTHERE BH
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. eRABEEEERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group's principal financial instruments comprise AEBFESHTASER KRS
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these ZBY ZEEMIACFEREAR
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's rEBrEEEHEES FAEBHES
operations. The Group has various other financial BEMESREERSHABE  WEHE
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables WHRIEREREEBERESENRIE B
and trade payables, which arise directly from its FIREHZE -
operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial AEEZERTAMEENEERRA
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and SMNERFR - FERREREE SRR
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees EEgEHRHEEEZSERS K
policies for managing each of these risks and they are & BEABGER T Xt -

summarised below.

BERRERAT /2023 1063



31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

164

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by subsidiaries
in currencies other than the subsidiaries’ functional
currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change by 1% in the US$ exchange rate against RMB,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's
profit before tax arising from US$ denominated financial
instruments:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B A& R R My =T (48)

32. cRIEMEE B ERBUR (#)

S BE L B

AEEAERZEERER - BRARRIR
BB RBAMBARINEEE U Z
SRR 2 SHE SRR o

TREFERBRMBETRERT -
KEDAAEBULTHEZ SRIA
R 2 2 B BB RIS 7T 30 A R M TE
A REERT) 1% HEEE

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTER FHET

If US$ strengthens against RMB ETLHARBHE (921) (1,178)
If US$ weakens against RMB ETHARBE(E 921 1,178

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis
and the Group’'s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.
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31 December 2023 —ZFE—=F+1+—-HA=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. cREKREEEERBCEKR (E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BERBRFLERER
The tables below show the credit quality and the TEREVNERAEBENEERRNEE
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group's BExkEaEERE  FE2ERNEGHE
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due B (BRIEEMmER AT EREAN BN VER
information unless other information is available AABHHBERTERS)  RRZE==
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging FRZIZFZZFFT A=+ —HNFEE
classification as at 31 December 2023 and 2022. The BB - FI27MNEHRSEESRE
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for EAEIREE -

financial assets.

As at 31 December 2023 R=B==5+=H=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs

128 ARH

EEER 2HRREERR

Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F1BR B2RR F3RER BltrE @t

HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TiER TiER TiER TiER TiER

Trade and bills receivables* B RWTIARRNEE - - - 71,851 71,851
Financial assets included in SARNTE  BE R

prepayments, deposits, and other  AMEKFENEREAE

receivables

— Normal** = e 5,602 - - - 5,602

— Doubtful** — A5 - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents BeRARSEN

— Not yet past due — AR 243,342 - - - 243,342
Total FEH) 248,944 - - 71,851 320,795
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31 December 2023 —FE_-—=F1+—-HA=+—H

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. cREREEEERBUR (E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) 8RR (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BE R R FERE (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-_—F+=-H=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
(VAENREL:
BEEE SHRSEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F11ER FRR F3RER BlenE @zt

HK$'000  HK§'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

Trade and bills receivables* EOIEPTLIES o - - - 71,370 71,370
Financial assets included in SABNTE  RER

prepayments, deposits, and other ~ AMERHENEREE

receivables

— Normal** —IEE* 6,490 = = = 6,490

— Doubtful** — A = = = = =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEN

— Not yet past due — WAREH 244,598 - - - 244,598

Total @t 251,088 = = 77,310 328,458

* For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * MANEBEFERBLRERENE 5 FENIE
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is REWER  EREEEENE SRR
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements. FKHFE17BE -

*x The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, *% Mt ATBEN A - IRE REMEKRZENS
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they REEY RO EENBELRAESHEE
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial H{EEE R B EXRFER AR AREE M - Al
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. HEEEEZREAILEE ]l B eREE
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be HEEGEWR A Ak -

“doubtful”.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had NBERKR  AEBAZEF=BEH

certain concentrations of credit risk as 19% (2022: A% AAEENESERZESRS

16%) of the Group's trade receivables were due from 19% (— T = — 4 : 16%) Jh 2N £ E

the Group's two largest customers. KEF R o

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's BRAEBERE S EWSE R EKEZE

exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills MAENEERRNEZ 2L BERE

receivables are disclosed in note 17 to the financial N FR BRI 17 o

statements.
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
internally generated cash flows from operations. The
Group regularly reviews its major funding positions to
ensure that it has adequate financial resources in

meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

32. cRIEMEE B ERBUR (#)

RBESRR

AEEEEEBRERREMSANELS
BengsienBtRgEiE zRn
T ARBERRIEERZE SN
ATEREER RN 5B IR A EKE
MR -

ARG B s BRIE A ARRER N A
TRBEIHBERET

2023 —E—=
On demand
and less than
1year 1tob years Total
RERR
DPR—F —ZHF #at
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Trade payables B 5 EMN A 17,012 - 17,012
Financial liabilities included &t A E fth fE {5+ 5018 2
in other payables and EAERANTREE
accruals 4,195 - 4,195
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,475 1,131 5,606
Total HRET 25,682 1,131 26,813
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

32.

TREREEREREEE)

Liquidity risk (Continued) nEBESEK (&)
2022 —E-—F
On demand
and less than
1 year 1 to 5 years Total
RENRR
DR —F —ERF #AT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FH&T
Trade payables Z 5 e RIA 20,759 - 20,759
Financial liabilities included &t A E fih fE < 038 &
in other payables and ErrEANERAE
accruals 3,126 - 3,126
Lease liabilities HERE 5,618 4,670 10,288
Total 1=t 29,503 4,670 34,173
Capital management EXEE

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.
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33.

34.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after 31 December
2023 and up to the approval date of the financial
statements.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

As further explained in note 2.2 to the financial
statements, due to the adoption of the new and revised
HKFRSs during the current year, the accounting
treatment and presentation of certain items and
balances in the financial statements have been revised
to comply with the new requirements. Accordingly,
certain prior year adjustments have been made, and
certain comparative amounts have been reclassified
and restated to conform with the current year’'s
presentation and accounting treatment.

33.

34.

BEWEEH

BE-E_=F+_A=1+—HEEUK
WmAREHEBHAILEE WEEKRE
o

oo 3%

AN B IRAR L 2.2 FrE— R - &
RAFE RG] REERT BBV R
SER PHHERETHERESRNE
AR R 25N RBHRE T AERT
Bt  EEHETBEFEAE BT
KBReREEMHBELESY  AFEAR
FEMNEIREHRE
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  35. &2 R BT &K

THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of BEAARR BN HERARN BT
the Company at the end of the reporting period is as BRI
follows:
2023 2022
—EB-= —_=E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FaxT F&T
(Restated)
(f2E%))
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries N PNGIE =% =
Right-of-use assets FREEE 399 665
Deferred tax assets ELHBEE 3 6
Total non-current assets JEmEE EAE 402 671
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Amount due from subsidiaries FEUCHT B A B IE 12,574 2,326
Prepayments, deposits and BFHIE - ZER
other receivables H b pE U B 519 713
Cash and cash equivalents He RIS ZEEY 56,015 73,431
Total current assets B EELE 69,108 76,470
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Amount due to subsidiaries N NEIEREE 8,754 10,814
Other payables and accruals HEMEMNZIAKRERTER 400 249
Lease liabilities HEAE 299 286
Total current liabilities mENAERE 9,453 11,349
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEZFE 59,655 65,121
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (Continued)

35. RQAIBBEMRRE (E)

2023 2022
—=E2=-= B
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
(Restated)
(KeE5)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERRBERS
LIABILITIES 60,057 65,792
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBER
Lease liabilities HEBE 116 415
Total non-current liabilities IEmEABEEE 116 415
Net assets BEFE 59,941 65,377
EQUITY ER
Share capital A& AR 4,000 4,000
Reserves (note) s (PFRE) 55,941 61,377
Total equity EmiaE 59,941 65,377

The amount is less than HK$1,000.

SFAPHR1,00087T °
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35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF  35. ZA&A R BT K (&)

THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: B sE
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RARIEEBRENT -
Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
RBRE 5y #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT FHET
 —
At 31 December 2021 R-E-_—F+-_HA=+—H 96,846 (28,125) 68,721
Effect of adoption of RNB B ST ERE 125
amendments to HKAS 12 B Rz & - 31 31
At 1 January 2022 (restated) RZB-_—_F—F—R8(&EF%) 96,846 (28,094) 68,752
Final 2021 dividend paid BN —FREKRE (5,400) = (5,400)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAREEIBEE - (1,950) (1,950)
At 31 December 2022 (restated) R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H8 (K& 91,446 (30,044) 61,402
Effect of adoption of BB AERIE 125
amendments to HKAS 12 CHE VA2 - (25) (25)
At 1 January 2023 (restated) R=_T=—=F—F—H(K&5) 91,446 (30,069) 61,377
Final 2022 dividend paid BN = —FREKRE (5,400) - (5,400)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREHEEBERE = (36) (36)
At 31 December 2023 R=F=_=F+=-A=+—8H 86,046 (30,105) 55,941
36. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 36. #tEMKEHRE
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2024.
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